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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH
ENTERPRISE MARKET (“GEM”) OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
companies to which a higher investment risk may be attached than
other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in
such companies and should make the decision to invest only after
due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other
characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited to
professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of the companies listed on GEM, there is
a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to
high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a
liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the
contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy
or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever
for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole
or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Kong
Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited (the
“Company”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility,
includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The
Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to
the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained
in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects
and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters
the omission of which would make any statement herein or this
report misleading.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of Kong Shum
Union Property Management (Holding) Limited (the “Company”),
| hereby present the annual report of the Company and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March
2017.

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group’s principal
activity was provision of property management services.

During the year under review, the Group continued its
development efforts to stay competitive in the market. Under our
property management portfolio, we have been awarded 19
management contracts in residential and commercial projects
mainly including Nan Fung Industrial Centre with 1,008 units,
Hong Fai Building with 428 units, Wing Wing Building, Yuen Wing
Building and On Wing Building with 345 units and One Terminal
with 300 units.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, revenue of the Group was
approximately HK$395.5 million (2016: approximately HK$374.0
million), representing an increase of 5.7% as compared with last
year. Consolidated gross profit of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2017 was approximately HK$83.3 million (2016:
approximately HK$78.3 million), representing an increase of
approximately 6.4% as compared with last year. The percentage
on profit attributable to owners increased by approximately 1.8
percentage point approximately from 0.8% for the year ended 31
March 2016 to 2.6% for year ended 31 March 2017.

The earnings per share for the year ended 31 March 2017 was
HK$0.018 (2016: HK$0.006).

The Group would like to share more details of the Group’s
performance, financial position and operation in the year
2016/2017 with shareholders in the following section of
management discussion and analysis.
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QHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
FERE

FUTURE PROSPECTS

The number of property in Hong Kong market is expanding.
Public opinion voices concern over housing stock production and
the speeding up of the issue of housing completion in the near
future is expected to solve the issue of heavy demand on housing.
It is envisaged that the property management business will
expand simultaneously. Meanwhile, we will continue to expand
our management portfolio by capturing the continuing outsourcing
activities implemented by private residential owners, corporations
and government institutions. Since we started property
management business in 1984, giving our customers the best
service has always been our goal. Over the years, we have grown
into one of the largest property management companies in Hong
Kong. Leveraging on our experience and scale of business, we
will continue to seek for opportunities to expand the current
property management business through self-development and/or
investment(s) in suitable targets/assets, and/or through co-
operation by way of joint venture(s) with other parties. In order to
increase the profitability of this segment, we consider the cost
control is as important as expanding the management portfolio.
We are reviewing the operating performance of the property
management business and appropriate cost controls will be
implemented in the forthcoming financial year, if necessary.

Notwithstanding the property management services will continue
to be one of our principal business, money lending business will
become one of our principal business activities in the forthcoming
financial years. Furthermore, we will continue to seek for further
opportunities in relation to the properties investments and
provision for financial services in Hong Kong.

We believe the diversification of the business scope and broaden
the revenue source will bring more stable and recurrent return to
the Company and increase value of the shareholders of the
Company. We are confident that the property development
business will continue to bring added value to our shareholders
and investors whereas the provision for financial services and
properties investments will be twin-prong direction for expansion
of the Company in the coming years.

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
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CHAIRMAN'’S STA'[EMENT
FEHRE

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my warmest
gratitude to the management and our staff for their significant
contributions. | would like to extend my sincere gratitude to all our
shareholders and investors for their endless support. With the
solid business base and the effort of all our staff, the Group will
endeavor to open a new chapter in the future.

Eric Todd
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 June 2017
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERBFWR DM
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OVERVIEW

The Group is a property management services group principally
engaged in the provision of property management services in
Hong Kong primarily targeting residential properties. The Group
operates under the brand name of “Kong Shum” and provides a
range of management services including security, repair and
maintenance, cleaning, finance management, administrative and
legal support. Under an established functional structure with
various departments, the Group has dedicated teams to carry out
the aforementioned management services. The Group also
employs a team of security staff to provide security services as
part of the services provided under property management
contracts or under stand-alone security services contracts. For
the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group provided property
security services for 17 properties under stand-alone security
services contracts. The operating arm of the Group’s security
services is mainly Q & V Security Company Limited (“Q&V"). The
Group hires its own security staff to provide property security
services. The Group also employs registered technicians to
provide basic repair and maintenance services to its customers if
required. In relation to the cleaning services, the Group
subcontracts substantially all of its cleaning services to third-party
contractors.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW Bt 7% = B&
Summary Financial Performance Mg RIBME
2017 2016
2017 2016 4
HK$'000 HK$’000 Change
FHET FET p=iEY)
Revenue %= 395,514 374,024 5.7%
Cost of services BRFE A AN (312,206) (295,756) 5.6%
Gross Profit EH 83,308 78,268 6.4%
Gross profit margin ER=E 21.1% 20.9% n/a ‘1~ iE A
Other revenue Hilgzs 338 1,494 -77.4%
Administrative expenses THHX (51,958) (53,823) -3.5%
Other operating expenses HfhE@EA (17,984) (18,991) -5.3%
Finance costs B &R (196) (992) -80.2%
Profit before tax B A5 AT S ) 13,508 5,956 126.8%
Income tax expense FristiF sz (3,320) (3,141) 5.7%
Profit attributable to owners KATHEE AEERET
of the Company 10,188 2,815 261.9%
Net profit margin #F = 2.6% 0.8% n/a 1@ A

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERBWR DM

REVENUE

For the years ended 31 March 2016 and 2017, all of the Group’s
revenue was derived from its operation in Hong Kong. The Group
derived revenue of approximately HK$20.2 million and HK$30.4
million respectively from stand-alone security services contracts
for the years ended 31 March 2016 and 2017 respectively,
representing approximately 5.4% and 7.7% of its total revenue.
The following table sets out the Group’s revenue by contract type
for the years ended 31 March 2016 and 2017:

Log

B E2016F K2017F3H31H IEFE -
AEBEMBERBIREETENEE -3
Bl E20164F &201743H31 B IEFE -
REERBBILREREE DD F
#)/%2,0208 8T K 3,0408E T D hlME
HBWRH54% K877% - TREAKE
B 5| E 220165 k20173 A31H 1k
FEAEE K

2017 2016
2017 &F 20164
HK$ million percentage HK$ million percentage
BEERT FthEsK BEATT FMhESL
Property management  #)¥EIBREE 4
services contracts 365.1 92.3% 353.8 94.6%
Property security YERERIEE L)
services contracts 304 1.7% 20.2 5.4%
395.5 100% 374.0 100%

The Group’s revenue improved by approximately 5.7% from
approximately HK$374.0 million for the year ended 31 March
2016 to approximately HK$395.5 million for the year ended 31
March 2017. The increase was primarily attributable to the growth
of revenue generated from property management services
contracts, increasing by approximately 3.2% to approximately
HK$365.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2017. During the
year, the number of management service contracts obtained by
the Group had been increased by 9 from 422 during the year
ended 31 March 2016 to 431 for the year ended 31 March 2017.
Revenue generated from security services contracts recorded a
significant increase of approximately 50.5% to approximately
HK$30.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2017.

AEBMKZFHEZE 20163 31 HIEF
E#3. 740188 L EAK5.7% ZE £ 2017
F3A31B L FELHIB5EB T o %I
MEBHADEESERES HEEHIKES
#BE - HZE2017F3 A31 B IEFEEEMNL
32% #3651 BB L TN AEBE
SHERERBEELOBEZ2016F3 A31H
IEFEH4221 18 NOH EEL E 2017 F 3
A31HILFEMA311 - HE2017F3 A
BIHLFE RERBANEENKRZEK
TR 3E 1149 50.5% £ 493,040 BT ©
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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REVENUE (continued) Yz (48)
The following graph sets out the revenue for the years ended 31 T [E & 5 & & 20154 ~ 2016 5 & 2017 F
March 2015, 2016, 2017. 3A3IHIEFEMWE -
Revenue Wiz
HK$ million BHE&BIT
ggg @395
380
370
360 374.0
350
ggg 3397 Y
320
310
300
290
280 t t
2015 2016 2017
COST OF SERVICES PR 7% B <

The total cost of services amounted to approximately HK$295.8
million and HK$312.2 million for the years ended 31 March 2016
and 2017 respectively, representing approximately 79.1% and
78.9% respectively of the Group’s revenue. The increase of the
cost of services during the year of approximately 5.6% was mainly
due to the increase on the wages of the Group front line staff.

GROSS PROFIT

The gross profit of the Group increased by approximately 6.4%
from approximately HK$78.3 million for the year ended 31 March
2016 to approximately HK$83.3 million for the year ended 31
March 2017. The gross profit margin was approximately 20.9%
and 21.1% for years ended 31 March 2016 and 2017
respectively. The Group negotiated and adjusted the service fees
in order to reflect the increase in costs and to maintain a growth
on the gross profit margin.

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
BRBEYEER (ZR)ERAH

B ZE20164% &2017F3A31HIEFEH
RS A D B 492.958 B8 7T K 3.12218
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERBWR DM

GROSS PROFIT (continued)

The following graph sets out the gross profit for the years ended
31 March 2015, 2016 and 2017.

EX (&)

T B % 5l & = 2015 F - 2016 F K 2017 F
3A31HLEEEMER -

Gross profit ~ FEF|
HK$ million BE&BTT
100
o e 833
.
o 704 " 783
50
40
30
20
10
0 T T
2015 2016 2017
PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE RABEE AESZF

COMPANY

The profit attributable to owners of the Company was increased
by approximately 261.9% from approximately HK$2.82 million for
the year ended 31 March 2016 to approximately HK$10.19
million for the year ended 31 March 2017, and the net profit
margin increase by approximately 1.8 percentage point from
approximately from 0.8% to 2.6% for the years ended 31 March
2016 and 2017 respectively.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The Group’s administrative expenses for the year ended 31
March 2017 were approximately HK$52.0 million (2016:
approximately HK$53.8 million), representing an slightly decrease
of approximately 3.5% compared to the corresponding period in
2016. This was mainly attributable to the decrease in bonus,
Directors’ emoluments, rentals and administrative service fee
incurred during the year.

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

The Group’s other operating expenses for the year ended 31
March 2017 were approximately HK$18.0 million (2016:
approximately HK$19.0 million), representing a decrease of
approximately 5.3% compared to the corresponding period in
2016. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in share
option expenses during the year.

RABEB AEGRFAEZE201643 A
31 B IEFER282 BB LI INE 261.9% &
HZE2017F3A31BILFEL10198%
JT AR REZ 20164 K% 2017 4 3 A
BIAEFENAIBL08% EHAXN18MHEE

DEE26% °

TR

HZE2017F3A31HILEFE  AEEMTT
B> 455,2008 87T (20164F : 495,380
BAIL) W2016F R K &R L4
3.5% ° IR EERNRFERNE LML
EEEHH - A RITBREERRADE

HEEMX

HZE2017F3A31BIEFE ALEHH
fth A& & BAST 49 41,800 B8 7T (2016 6 : 49
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERBFWR DM

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE
YEAR

The investment in All Profit Alliance Limited was accounted for as
equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive
income in the Group’s consolidated financial statements. During
the year ended 31 March 2017, the carrying amount of such
investment was reduced by approximately HK$4.3 million due to
changes in fair value.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

FRHEMZEE

A All Profit Alliance Limited B3R & A AN &£
REMBHRERTFARABEALETAEM
FHEHREHRAIEE - HEZ2017F3 A31
HIEFE BRAAEES  HULEERE
FIEREER X430 8B TT ©

RBES  MBEERREARZER

For the year ended/
as at 31 March
BE3H31BLEES

M3A31H
2017 2016
2017 §F 2016 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHExT FHET
Financial position B AR
Current assets mENVEE 114,185 126,888
Current liabilities mENBE 74,595 56,226
Net current assets MENEEFE 39,590 70,663
Total assets BERE 203,395 144,871
Bank borrowings and RITEERENRBERERKIE
finance lease payables 9,673 9,175
Bank balances and cash RITEB LIRS 45,165 64,773
Total equity HEmEER 116,270 88,342
Key ratios FEL X
Return on equity (1) AR AN [B1 3R 2 (1) 10.0% 4.4%
Return on assets (2) BERHRE(2) 5.9% 2.3%
Current ratio (3) ENEE % (3) 1.53 timesf%  2.26 times &
Gearing ratio (4) BEBELE®Y) 18.8% 10.4%
Net Debt to equity ratio (5) BEFHEEEELE(D) 0% 0%
Debtors turnover day (6) JE WS AR S} B 82 B 2 (6) 41.2daysH  45.1 days A
Creditors turnover day (7) SRR TR A B 8(7) 25.0days B  24.7 days H

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE (continued)

Notes:

1. Return on equity is calculated as the profit for the year divided by average
total equity.

2. Return on assets is calculated as the profit for the year divided by average

total assets.
3. Current ratio is calculated as the current assets divided by current liabilities.

4. Gearing ratio is calculated as the total debt divided by total equity. For the
avoidance of doubt, total debt represents bank borrowings, promissory
notes payable and finance lease payables.

5. Net debt to equity ratio is calculated as the total debt net of cash and bank
balances and divided by total equity. For the avoidance of doubt, total debt
represents bank borrowings, promissory notes payables and finance lease
payables.

6. Debtors’ turnover day is calculated as average trade receivables divided by
revenue times number of days in the period.

7. Creditors’ turnover day is calculated as average trade payables divided by
cost of services times number of days in the period.

The Group maintained sufficient working capital as at 31 March
2017 with bank balances and cash of approximately HK$45.2
million (2016: approximately HK$64.8 million).

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had bank borrowings and
obligations under finance lease of approximately HK$9.7 million
(2016: approximately HK$9.2 million).

As at 31 March 2017, the Group’s net current assets amounted
to approximately HK$39.6 million (2016: approximately HK$70.7
million). The Group’s operations are financed principally by
revenue generated from its business operations, available cash
and bank balances and bank borrowings.

RETURN ON EQUITY

The return on equity increased from approximately 4.4% for the
year ended 31 March 2016 to approximately 10.0% for the year
ended 31 March 2017, mainly due to the increase on profit for
the year.

F%ﬁﬁ‘ﬁﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁ$%%
&

1 AR R TR P M B DA I R s AR AT
o

2. BEOBRXDRENENGRATFHEERLE
o

3. ABEXDEABEERARBEEHE -

4. EERMELETRE SRR S
- SR BEEEERTEE BN
FOLBIR R RATE B A -

5. AEFHEHESLLEDNZAREAERRENIR
TRBMGAEREEE - BARERME &
ERAEERRITEE  ENEALEBERENRE
HERA -

6. EUERREEBHDHRTIHE SRR A
WATRIARIA A 85T E

7. ENERREEBHDHRTIHEHRENERRERIA
BRIERATRIA A B #ETE -

MR201743A31H  KEBRERELE
B RITEBNR SO ELS0EHE T
(20164 : 476,480 &/E7T) °

MR2017E3A31H  REBNRITEE
BEREAELNRI70EB T (20164 - 49
Q20&EETT) ©

R2017F3A31 0 AEENRBEEF
B# /39608 %8 L (20164F : #97,0708
BIL) e AEEMNZEFERBEEREE
EfEmlas  ITARE MIRITERKLRTIT
BERMNES -

A B

BEARBHEREFE2016 FE3 31 IEFEE
WAA% FFFEHE2017FE3 318 IHF
[E#4710.0% * EEHMNF ARG
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RETURN ON ASSETS

The return on assets was increased from approximately 2.3% for
the year ended 31 March 2016 to approximately 5.9% for the
year ended 31 March 2017, mainly due to the increase on profit
for the year.

CURRENT RATIO

The Group’s current ratio decrease from approximately 2.26 times
as at 31 March 2016 to approximately 1.53 times as at 31 March

2017 mainly due to the acquisition of companies during the year

which reduced the Company’s assets and enlarged the

Company’s liabilities.

GEARING RATIO

The Group’s gearing ratio, defined as the total debt (i.e. bank

borrowings, promissory notes payables and finance lease
payables) divided by total equity, as at 31 March 2017 is

approximately 18.8% (2016: approximately 10.4%). The total

bank borrowings increase from approximately HK$8.6 million as

at 31 March 2016 to approximately HK$9.4 million as at 31

March 2017. In addition, the Group issued promissory notes with
carrying value of HK$12.2 million as at 31 March 2017. On the
other hand, the Group’s total equity increased significantly during
the year ended 31 March 2016 due to issuance of share upon
placing of shares during the year.

NET DEBT TO EQUITY RATIO

The Group’s net debt to equity ratio was 0% as at 31 March 2016
and 31 March 2017 which indicates that the Group’s has
sufficient cash and bank balances for debts repayment.

DEBTORS’ TURNOVER DAY

The debtors’ turnover day decreased from approximately 45.1
days for the year ended 31 March 2016 to approximately 41.2
days for the year ended 31 March 2017 under the monitor of the
recoverability on trade debtors.

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
BRBEYEER (ZR)ERAH

EEMEHER

BERFEHREE2016E3 /31 ILEE
4923% FFEEE2017F3A31H IE
JE#)5.9% » T EHPLEREFIL o
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AREEZ R EH2016F3 31 HAI2.26
EREE2017F3A31H4153F £2
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EEEELR
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R(EERBEBBRBERTEE  BEAR
EERENBRERERE) R AEERRE)
4 /518.8% (20164 : #910.4%) ° tRITI&
BE#5EH2016F3 A31 HY8608 B ik
INZE201743 A31 HAIQ408E 7T LN -
HZE2017F3A31 0 AEEDETERR
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REBMERBENEZ2016F3 A31H
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CREDITORS’ TURNOVER DAY

The creditors’ turnover day was slightly increased 0.3 days from
approximately 24.7 days for the year ended 31 March 2016 to
approximately 25.0 days for the year ended 31 March 2017. The
increase was due to the late settlement to some creditors.

DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2017 (2016: Nil).

OPERATION REVIEW
Outlook

The property market in the Hong Kong is expanding. Public
opinion voices concern over the housing stock production and the
speeding up of the completion of construction of properties in the
near future is expected to solve the heavy demand on housing. It
is envisaged that the property management business will expand
simultaneously. On the other hand, even though strong
competition and soaring cost resulting from statutory minimum
wage revision and inflation are unavoidable, the Directors are
confident that the Group is now on an appropriate stage to
increase its market share after the listing of the Company’s shares
on the GEM and believe that the Group will be benefited from the
listing.

We are currently exploring suitable opportunities to commence
and develop business of property development and of financial
services in Hong Kong, which may include, but not limited to, (i)
carrying out schemes for property consolidation, assembly and
redevelopments; (ii) property trading and/or investment; (iii)
obtaining a money lender’s licence under the Money Lenders
Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong); and (iv)
securities brokerage and/or asset management (the “Potential
New Businesses”). The Board intends to develop the Potential
New Businesses through self-development of the subsidiaries,
and/or investment(s) in suitable targets/assets, and/or through co-
operation by way of joint venture(s) with other parties.

e BRFR A B &

FEBR R EE HEMRAEZ 201653 A31 H
IFFEH247BBM EAOOIEBEEHZ
20173 A31HIEFE#H25.0H  ZE M
EHNEEENS TREMAERR -

@S

EEWITEEREEZ2017F3A31HIEF
EEIRAHAE (20164 « £) o

RE O
AR

BRMENSTEER  EmIFFHEIRE
EE - R EAINRY R IERH R R OREE
REEFBR  RERRVEEERXHER
FIER o SN BEXABF AR NS
BEERETIEBERKRSKA LHE
FrEie  EFWABELARTBRMDNAIE
R EMRASERER A ERBIRIMES
BIEER  YHREAKERIEN LD -

BMBEERRAERSETERAREE
MEEZERL SRR - BEEBA] 8L
BIEBRER) - VETHEES - A6
MEEAE (VMEEB R HIEE (i)
RIEE B ED 5 163 E HE A K FI BT AR
BARRR k(v BEHELER XEEEE
TEBEFEB]) EFeREBARNE
Nalk,/ KEREREGBEREZ  &EE-
Y/ SN ERABEME AR
RIBIEIER -
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OPERATION REVIEW (continued)
Outlook (continued)

The Board has been actively exploring other business
opportunities in order to diversify the existing business of the
Group and to explore new markets with significant growth
potential. In view of the current economic and capital markets
environment, the Board believes that engaging in the Potential
New Businesses is an opportunity of the Group to diversify its
source of income and will therefore be in the interest of the
Company and its shareholders as a whole.

Notwithstanding the Group’s intention to explore the Potential
New Businesses, the existing principal business of the Group in
the provision of property management services in Hong Kong,
primarily targeting residential properties, will continue to be the
core business of the Group. The Board expects that the Potential
New Businesses will enable the Group to expand its business
portfolio, diversify its income source and possibly enhance its
financial performance.

Human resources

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had a total of 2,162 employees
(as at 31 March 2016: 2,087 employees). The Group’s staff costs
for the year ended 31 March 2017 amounted to approximately
HK$338.6 million (2016: HK$342.6 million). To ensure that the
Group is able to attract and retain staff capable of attaining the
best performance levels, remuneration packages are reviewed on
a regular basis. In addition, discretionary bonus is offered to
eligible employees by reference to the Group’s results and
individual performance.

Services contracts

Due to well-established team and project planning, during the
year ended 31 March 2017, 2 facility management service
contract for non-domestic property management segment which
included 2 shopping complex were awarded to the Group. The
success in securing the contract gave the Group confidence to
expand the property management portfolio continuously. In
addition, 19 property management contracts were awarded to the
Group during the year.

As at 31 March 2017, there were in total 431 service contracts
(covering around 90,000 households) comprising 399 property
management service contracts, 16 stand-alone security service
contracts and 16 facility management service contracts.

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
BRBEYEER (ZR)ERAH
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OPERATION REVIEW (continued)
Contract renewal complying with procedural requirements

A service contract which does not comply with the procedural
requirements for contract renewal as stipulated in section 20A of
the Building Management Ordinance (Chapter 344 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) may be cancelled by the owners’ corporation.
Included in 431 contracts in force as at 31 March 2017, 95
service contracts are not in strict compliance with the said
contract renewal requirements, hence, termination notices were
served on clients involving in these contracts. All of the remaining
336 valid contracts as at 31 March 2017 are in compliance with
the said procedural requirements or not applicable under the
Building Management Ordinance. The senior management
adopts a tight control system to monitor the full compliance of the
procedural requirements. All newly signed contracts during the
year ended 31 March 2017 included the mandatory term
requiring the client to follow the said procedural requirements, if
applicable.

Client accounts

As at 31 March 2017, the Group held 61 (as at 31 March 2016:
63 clients) client accounts amounting to approximately HK$40.8
million (as at 31 March 2016: approximately HK$32.4 million) on
trust for and on behalf of customers. These client accounts are
opened in the names of the Group and the relevant properties.
The management fees received from the tenants or owners of the
properties were deposited into these client accounts and the
expenditure of these customers was paid from these client
accounts.

Performance bond

As at 31 March 2017, the banks issued 10 (as at 31 March 2016:
10) bond certificates amounting to approximately HK$20.4 million
(as at 31 March 2016: approximately HK$17.5 million) on behalf
of the Group to the clients as required in the service contracts.

Capital expenditure

The Group purchased property, plant and equipment amounting
to approximately HK$10.4 million for the year ended 31 March
2017 (2016: approximately HK$0.9 million).

REmpE (&)
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OPERATION REVIEW (continued)
Capital commitments

The Group did not have any significant capital commitments as at
31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016.

Contingent liabilities

Details of contingent liabilities of the Group are set out in note 38
to the consolidated financial statements.

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s business operations were conducted in Hong Kong.
The transactions, monetary assets and liabilities of the Group
were mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollar. During the year
ended 31 March 2017, there was no material impact to the Group
arising from the fluctuation in the foreign exchange rates between
the currencies.

The Group did not engage in any derivatives arrangement and did
not commit to any financial instruments to hedge its foreign
exchange exposure during the year ended 31 March 2017.

Significant investments held, material acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries, associates, joint ventures and
future plans for material investments or capital asset

Acquisition of property management business

On 3 March 2016, the Company entered into a non-legally
binding memorandum of understanding, pursuant to which, the
Company intends to acquire the entire issued share capital in a
company (the “Target Company 1”) that is principally engaged in
the business of providing property management services in Hong
Kong.

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
BRBEYEER (ZR)ERAH
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OPERATION REVIEW (continued)

Significant investments held, material acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries, associates, joint ventures and
future plans for material investments or capital asset
(continued)

Acquisition of property management business (continued)

On 26 May 2016, Kong Shum Union Property Management
Group Limited (as purchaser), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a sale and purchase agreement (the
“Agreement 1”) with independent third parties (as vendors),
pursuant to which the vendors have agreed to sell, and the Group
has agreed to purchase, the entire issued share capital of the
Target Company | at a total consideration of HK$2.5 million,
payable by cash (the “Acquisition”).

Details of the memorandum of understanding and the Agreement
| are disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 3 March
2016 and 26 May 2016 respectively. On 30 June 2016, the
Board announced that all conditions precedent to completion
(“Completion”) of the Acquisition under the Agreement | have
been fulfilled and Completion took place on 30 June 2016 in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the Agreement I.
Upon Completion, the Company owns 100% of the issued share
capital of the Target Company | and the Target Company | has
become an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. As
such, the financial results of the Target Company | has been
consolidated into the accounts of the Group.

Establishment of strategic cooperation

On 13 June 2016, the Company and Crystal Properties
Development Limited (an independent third party) (collectively
referred to as the “Parties”) entered into a strategic partnership
framework agreement pursuant to which the Parties have agreed
to establish strategic partnership in investment in and
redevelopment of old buildings in Hong Kong. Details of the
aforementioned agreement are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 13 June 2016. As at the date of this report,
the establishment of strategic partnership as contemplated under
the aforementioned agreement is still under progress.
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OPERATION REVIEW (continued)

Significant investments held, material acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries, associates, joint ventures and
future plans for material investments or capital asset
(continued)

Acquisition of a financial services company

On 20 January 2017 (after trading hours of the Stock Exchange),
the Board announced that the Company, as potential purchaser,
entered into a non-legally binding memorandum of understanding
(the “MQOU") with a potential vendor (the “Potential Vendor”).
Pursuant to the MOU, the Company intends to acquire, and the
Potential Vendor intends to dispose of, the entire issued share
capital in a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
with limited liability which, together with its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Target Group”) is currently licensed to carry on
Type 1 (dealing in securities), Type 2 (dealing in futures
contracts) and Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated
activities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”). The Target Group
also holds a money lender’s licence under the Money Lenders
Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong). In addition,
the Target Group has recently submitted an application to the
Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong for approval of
the addition of Type 9 (asset management) regulated activity.

On 13 February 2017 (after trading hours of the Stock Exchange)
the Board announced that, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company (as purchaser) and the Company (as guarantor)
entered into an agreement (the “Agreement II”) with Mr. Chang
Tin Duk, Victor (“Mr. Chang”) (as vendor), pursuant to which the
aforesaid purchaser has conditionally agreed to acquire, and Mr.
Chang has conditionally agreed to sell, 30% of the issued share
capital of the target Company contemplated therein (the “Target
Company I1”) at a consideration of HK$31,500,000.

On 28 April 2017, the Board announced that all the conditions
precedent set out in the Agreement Il have been fulfilled and
completion took place on 28 April 2017 in accordance with the
terms and conditions of the Agreement Il.

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
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OPERATION REVIEW (continued)

Significant investments held, material acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries, associates, joint ventures and
future plans for material investments or capital asset
(continued)

Following the aforesaid completion, the Company is holding 30%
of the equity interest in the Target Company Il, and the Target
Company Il has become an associate of the Company and the
investment of the Group in the Target Group will be classified as
investment in an associate.

Details of these announcements are disclosed in the Company’s
announcements dated 20 January 2017, 13 February 2017 and
28 April, 2017.

Discloseable and connected transaction involving the issue
of the promissory notes

On 8 February 2017, Kong Shum Union Property Management
Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the
“Purchaser”) and Mr. Ho Ying Choi, an executive Director of the
Company and Mr. Ho Ying Cheung, a director of the Purchaser
and brother of Mr. Ho Ying Choi (collectively, the “Vendors”)
entered into an sale and purchase agreement (“SPA”), pursuant
to which the Purchaser conditionally agreed to acquire and the
Vendors conditionally agreed to sell the entire issued share capital
of (i) Fortune Trend Investment Limited; and (ii) More Rise
Investment Limited (collectively, the “Target Companies”), at a
consideration of HK$40 million, of which HK$26 million will be
satisfied in cash and HK$14 million will be satisfied by the issue
of promissory notes by the Purchaser to the Vendors (the
“Properties Acquisition”). The Target Companies are wholly-
owned by the Vendors (as to 50% by Mr. Ho Ying Choi and 50%
by Mr. Ho Ying Cheung) and are principally engaged in property
investment which owned two factory units in Hong Kong. As one
or more of the applicable percentage ratios for the Properties
Acquisition under the GEM Listing Rules are more than 5% but
less than 25% and the Vendors are connected persons of the
Company and the consideration for the Properties Acquisition
exceeds HK$10 million, the Properties Acquisition constituted a
discloseable and connected transaction on the part of the
Company and is subject to announcement, reporting and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under the GEM
Listing Rules.

REmpE (&)

EAFBRE BHMBAT - BEAT
RABLENEAKBREEUREXR
ERE ARG E R ()

R EERE - NRABRKEFERZRAF I
H30% Bt - 1 B R R AIE KRR R A
MBS NE BAKRERBEEENERE
RO BBN—KBERRNERE -

BRAZEAMHFBNRARR B A2017
F1H20H 201792 A13H k201754
A28 BRI AMAEEE -

BRETAZZBEHATRERBEXS

R2017F2H8H  ARAMEENEB A
AR EMEEBEBERARI(ER])HE
RRARITESMNET TERETNES
AT CENBAAEELE(REIE
ANV EBEHZE(EEwMZE]) @ Bt
BEFEKHREKREME S B KHRED
EOAEREBRAR  R)VAAKESR
RAal(#EIEREAA]) 2EEEITR
K RERAC0EBTT - EF 260085
T AR &1 - 1,400 88 TiSmE S
FRAE FBEITAEEREMN ([ WERE
£IH]) c BERRHESZEHS ((WEH
S RAEFAESBHEADO% ) -
EREVERE  HEAMERELKE
fi7 o BRIRIBAIFER ETRAYEWES
B R —IB A EERA B DL REBIR5%
BIER25% BEHF B AGIWBEEALT
kW EENNRERBR1,00088 T
BIFEIZER EMHRA - MEWEEEEK
RAARMATEENEERS - WAEBS
N BRI AR R ERT ©

Annual Report 2016/17
2016/17 F 3]

23



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERBFWR DM

24

OPERATION REVIEW (continued)

Significant investments held, material acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries, associates, joint ventures and
future plans for material investments or capital asset
(continued)

Discloseable and connected transaction involving the issue
of the promissory notes (continued)

On 31 March 2017, the Board announced that all the conditions
precedent set out in the Agreement have been fulfilled and
completion took place on 31 March 2017 as agreed by the
Vendors and the Purchaser in writing. Pursuant to the SPA, two
promissory notes in the principal amount of HK$7 million each
has been issued by the Purchaser to each of the Vendors (or their
respective nominee(s)), respectively.

Following the aforesaid completion, the Target Companies have
become wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company and the
financial results of the Target Companies will be consolidated into
the consolidated financial statements of the Company.

Details of this transaction are disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 8 February 2017, 6 March 2017, 8 March
2017 and 31 March 2017.

Save for those disclosed in this report, there were no other
significant investments held, nor were there any material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries during the period under
review. Apart from those disclosed in this report, there was no
plan authorised by the Board for other material investments or
addition of capital assets at the date of this report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OPERATION REVIEW (continued)
Fund raising activities

Termination of proposed open offer and underwriting
agreement

On 21 April 2016, the Company announced that the proposed
open offer of three shares for every one share of the Company
held by the qualifying shareholders at a subscription price of
HK$0.12 per share (the “Proposed Open Offer”), together with
the underwriting agreement entered into between the Company
and the underwriter in connection with the Proposed Open Offer,
were terminated due to the then recent volatile market conditions,
details of which are set out in the announcements of the Company
dated 3 December 2015, 11 January 2016, 5 February 2016 and
21 April 2016.

Placing of new shares under general mandate

On 18 August 2016, the Company entered into a placing
agreement with Kingston Securities Limited (the “Placing Agent 1)
pursuant to which 99,000,000 new ordinary shares (“Shares”) of
par value of HK$0.01 each of the Company would be placed, on
a best effort basis at HK$0.23 per share to independent third
parties (the “Placing I"). Details of the Placing | are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 18 August 2016.

Completion of the Placing | took place on 6 September 2016 and
99,000,000 Shares were successful placed by the Placing Agent
l.

On 11 May 2017, The Company entered into a placing agreement
with Supreme China Securities Limited (the “Placing Agent 117),
pursuant to which 118,800,000 new ordinary shares (“Shares”)
of par value of HK$0.01 each of the Company would be placed,
on a best effort basis at HK$0.24 per share to independent third
parties (“the “Placing II"). Details of the Placing Il are set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 11 May 2017.

Completion of the Placing Il took place on 26 May 2017 and
118,000,000 Shares were successful placed by the Placing Agent
I.

EEENWE D
& E R ()
EHED

RUIZBAARER GHHE

M2016%F4 21 ARAEM - ARNE
R M ILKE) - MARBESR0.12ET
ERABERERHE —BRARRIKRNERL
“RBRONRBEAHAEE(RRARME
&) BRARREBHERZRLFE
SRV BHEBRD AR BEFED
Bl R A~ R A8 /2015912 A3A
20161 A 11H - 201642 A5 H 22016
FA4A21 BB

RIE—REEEEHR G

20168 A18H * A ARIEHE F|EHEA
BRAG(EERIEI TR EW:E - B
It + 99,000,000 A% & % T {8 0.01 78 7T &9 A&
NEFEBR (IR, ) BIRB R &%
NER0.23BTLMERIEEE TEBYLFE=H
(REFHEI) EEFHEIFBHRAR
alHEA201698 A 18 M A o

FLEEIHIN2016F9 A6 HEE A » B
&R IR | B IH D & 99,000,000 AZA% 1D °

2017F5A11 8 ARRIEBEFSF
BAR(EEEREINDIZEEHE &
It + 118,800,000 f% &A% E1{E 0.01 & ST A AR
NEFEBR (IR, ) BIRB R &%
NER024BTTMEREE TEYLFE=FH
(EEEFHEI)) - ESHEIFBEHNRAR
aHEA2017F5 A 11 B A

ALEEHEIN2017FE5 826 B EE =K -
A& IR 11 A IH E & 118,000,000 A% A&7 -

Annual Report 2016/17
2016/17 F 3]

25



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERBFWR DM

20

OPERATION REVIEW (continued)
Business update

On 15 June 2017, the board announced that a money lenders
licence has been granted by the licensing court on 15 June 2017
to a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The Group will
commence its money lending business under the Money Lenders
Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the laws of Hong Kong) and has
decided to include the money lending business as one of its
principal business activities from the date of this announcement.

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated
20 December 2016. The Company has been exploring suitable
opportunities to commence and develop business of provision of
financial services in Hong Kong. In view of the current economic
and capital markets environment, the Board anticipates that
extending its principal business activities into the money lending
business will enable the Group to diversify the Group’s business
scope and broaden the revenue source of the Group with a view
to bring more stable return to the Company and increase
Shareholders’ value. The Board considers the commencement of
this new business segment is in the interest of the Company and
its shareholders as a whole. The Company will continue to explore
further suitable opportunities to enhance the spectrum of its
financial services in Hong Kong.

Details of which are set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 15 June 2017.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OPERATION REVIEW (continued)

Update on Directors’ Information

Pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, changes in
the Directors’ information since the disclosure made in the
Company’s annual report 2015-2016 or the announcement in
relation to the appointment of director (as the case may be) are
set out as follows:

Mr. Eric Todd, an executive Director of the Company, was
appointed as an executive director of Hsin Chong Group
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 404) since March 2017.

Mr. Wong Kui Shing, Danny, a non-executive Director of the
Company, was appointed as an executive director of Larry
Jewelry International Company Limited (Stock code: 8351)
with effect from 3 October 2016.

Mr. Tso Siu Lun, Alan, a non-executive Director of the
Company, was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Dragonite International Limited (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, Stock Code: 329) since May 2017.
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OPERATION REVIEW (continued)

Change of Address of Head Office and Principal Place of
Business in Hong Kong

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 29 July
2016, the address of head office and principal place of business
in Hong Kong of the Company has been changed to Unit 906,
9/F., Wings Building, 110-116 Queen’s Road Central, Central,
Hong Kong with effect from 1 August 2016.

Charges over assets of the Group

As at 31 March 2017, certain bank deposits of approximately
HK$7.1 million (as at 31 March 2016: approximately HK$7.6
million) and the deposits placed for life insurance policies of
approximately HK$8.2 million (as at 31 March 2016:
approximately HK$8.0 million) were pledged to a bank to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group. Besides, the Group had
certain motor vehicles acquired under finance lease. The carrying
value of motor vehicles under finance lease amounted to
approximately HK$0.4 million and HK$0.7 million as at 31 March
2017 and 31 March 2016 respectively.

The deposits placed for life insurance policies are denominated in
United States dollars, a currency other than the functional
currency of the Group.

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OPERATION REVIEW (continued)

Fund raising activities

In order to meet the needs of business development, the Group
successfully completed a number of equity fund raising activities

during the year under review, as detailed below:

EERBWR DM
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Date of initial Intended use Actual use of proceeds as at
announcement Event Net proceeds of proceeds the date of this annual report
BALAE £ FiigFuE R Fri8RURRE AR FERERFERAANER AR
17 September 2015 Placing of 80,000,000 new  Approximately HK$31.2 ~ General working capital of ~ Approximately HK$17.6 million has
(completed on ordinary shares of million (net proceeds the Group been utilised as intended of which
6 October 2015) HK$0.01 each under raised per Share was  AEE—REEE S approximately HK$7.4 million was
2015F9A17H general mandate at the approximately utilised for salary expenses,
(R2015%10A6H  placing price of HK$0.40 HK$0.39 per Share) approximately HK$6.6 million was
k) per Share to not less than ~ #13,120 875 7T utilised for professional fees,
six placees who are (BRBHEER approximately HK$3.6 million was
independent professional,  FTEFUBFEL A utilised for operating expenses and
institutional or other FR%0.39%7T) the remaining net proceeds will be

investors (closing price of
the Share as quoted on
the Stock Exchange on the
date of the placing
agreement is HK$0.425)
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31 March 2018

#17608 B TE AR RE  E

HTL0EETEBIERSRS 4
6O0BETLEAIEEEER « 47360
BEELCRELERY  EBME
TEFEEREAEE-—MREES
¢ BREFLHY  BEBR &
ERYRREAEENEARRZ
G BEABMETEFERER
MNEZ2018F3A31HILEEFHA

Annual Report 2016/17
2016/17 F 3]

29



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERBFWR DM

OPERATION REVIEW (continued)

Fund raising activities (continued)

e E (&)
SE7FH (H)

Date of initial Intended use Actual use of proceeds as at
announcement Event Net proceeds of proceeds the date of this annual report
BALMAE E4 FrigFuE R P8 RUBRE AR FERERFFHRAANER AR
18 August 2016 Placing of 99,000,000 new  Approximately HK$22.0  Intended to be used for Entirely use for the acquisition of 30%
(completed on ordinary shares of million (net proceeds investment opportunities  of the issued shares in Dakin
6 September 2016)  HK$0.01 each under raised per Share was of the Group Holdings Inc.
20168 A18H general mandate at the approximately HANASERERE 23R Dakin Holdings Inc.
(R2016F9A6H  placing price of HK$0.23  HK$0.22 per Share) BETRR30%
k) per Share to not less than ~ #12,200 875 7T
six placees who are (BRRHEER
independent professional, IS FAZEEL A
institutional or other #0227 7T)
investars (closing price of
the Share as quoted on
the Stock Exchange on the
date of the placing
agreement is HK$0.275)
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11 May 2017 Placing of 118,800,000 new  Approximately HK$27.6  Intended to be used for Spare for intended use
(completed on ordinary shares of million (net proceeds ~ future investment BRERTRE
26 May 2017) HK$0.01 each under raised per Share was opportunities of the
2017F5R11H general mandate at the approximately Company which includes
(R2017FE5H26H  placing price of HK$0.24 HK$0.23 per Share) but not limited to capital
k) per Share to not less than 492,760 8870 (B investment in the provision
six placees who are MELMMEZETF o financial services in
independent professional, %4 A®M0.23%7L)  Hong Kong such as money

institutional or other
investors (closing price of
the Share as quoted on
the Stock Exchange on the
date of the placing
agreement is HK$0.245)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERBWR DM

RISKS RELATING TO THE GROUP AND ITS
BUSINESS

The Group faces intense competition which may adversely affect
its market share and profitability. The property management
industry in Hong Kong is competitive and the competition may
exert some pressure on the service fees of property management
companies. The Group may therefore be required to reduce its
fees or maintain low service fees in view of the market pressure
so as to retain customers or pursue new business opportunities.
The Group’s revenue stream and profitability may also be
adversely affected if the customers terminate the services
contracts with the Group, whether by serving written notice or for
the reason of breach or material breach of the terms or conditions
thereunder, prior to the expiry date.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Eric Todd has been appointed as the Chairman of the Board

and an executive Director with effect from 1 August 2016 to fill
the vacancy arising from the resignation of Mr. Yan.

Mr. Todd, aged 55, joined the Company as chief operating officer
in June 2016 and ceased to serve as the same position upon the

Appointment. He possesses extensive professional experience in
auditing, financial management and investment. Mr. Todd holds
a Bachelor of Science degree in business administration from

Boston University in the United States. He was a certified public

accountant in the State of California, the United States from

September 1989 to January 2010. Mr. Todd started his career at

the Hong Kong office of KPMG (formerly known as KPMG Peat

Marwick) from 1985 to 1990 and subsequently joined the
Standard Chartered Bank Group and worked from 1991 to 1995.
Prior to joining the Company, he had been employed as a
business consultant and also served as finance director for
several companies engaged in the media industry.

Mr. Todd has been appointed as a non-executive director of
Leyou Technologies Holdings Limited (a company listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”), Stock Code: 1089) since July 2015, an
independent non-executive director of Ngai Shun Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, Stock Code: 1246) since July 2016 and an executive
director of Hsin Chong Group Holdings Limited (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 404)
since March 2017.

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Ho Ying Choi, aged 57, is an Executive Director of the
Company. He is responsible for business operation, finance
management and sales and marketing. He is also a member of
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of
the Company.

Mr. Ho Ying Choi holds a Bachelor’s degree of science from the
Memorial University of Newfoundland, Canada.

Mr. Ho Ying Choi is the brother of Mr. Ho Ying Cheung, member
of the Group’s senior management. Mr. Lau Ping Kwai, a member
of the Group’s senior management, is the spouse of Mr. Ho Ying
Choi’s cousin. Save as disclosed, Mr. Ho Ying Choi is not
connected with any other Directors, member of the senior
management, Substantial Shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Lee Chin Ching, Cyrix has been appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company with effect from 20 December 2016.

Mr. Lee, aged 32, holds a Bachelor's degree in business
administration from Washington State University in the United
States of America. Mr. Lee has extensive experience in the real
estate investments, acquisition, valuation and assets
management. Prior to his appointment as an executive Director,
Mr. Lee had been a business consultant of the Company since 1
May 2016.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tso Siu Lun, Alan has been appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director, a member of each of the Audit Committee
and the Remuneration Committee of the Company and the
chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Company.

Mr. Alan Tso, aged 34, graduated from the Cambridge University
with a bachelor’'s and a master’'s degrees in Land Economy,
majoring in real estate finance and property law. Mr. Tso is the
founder of the Foresea Capital Group Limited (“FCG”) since 2013
and the China Mini Storage Limited (“CMS”) since 2014. Prior to
establishing FCG and CMS, based in Beijing, Mr. Tso worked as
an investment director of the Everbright Ashmore China Real
Estate Fund from 2008 to 2012, a joint venture offshore real
estate fund sponsored by the China Everbright Limited (stock
code: 165) and the Ashmore Group PLC (London Stock Exchange
stock code: ASHM). Previously, based in Hong Kong, Mr. Tso
also worked at Merrill Lynch’s Global Commercial Real Estate
team from 2006 to 2007, and where he was principally involved
in the firm’s principal investing activities in Asian real estate. He
also worked at the HSBC’s Global Capital Markets — ABS &
Structured Bonds Team from 2005 to 2006, and where he was
principally involved in the bank’s securitisation business. As for
public services, Mr. Tso has been invited to become the 10th and
11th session member of the Beijing Youth Federation (HKSAR),
the 3rd and 4th session member of the Beijing Overseas
Friendship Association (HKSAR) and the Beijing Group Convener
of China Real Estate Chamber of Commerce (“CRECC”) Hong
Kong Chapter. Also, he has been appointed as a part-time
lecturer for the Asia-Pacific Commercial Real Estate Academy
(“APCREA"), an educational institution sponsored by the CRECC'’s
China Commercial Real Estate Commission.

Mr. Alan Tso is currently an independent non-executive director
of Dragonite International Limited (stock code: 329), whose
securities are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(continued)

Mr. Lam Kai Yeung has been appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director, chairman of the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee, member of the Nomination Committee
of the Company.

Mr. Lam, aged 47, is a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Lam obtained a bachelor
degree in accounting from the Xiamen University in July 1990
and a master degree in business administration from the Oxford
Brookes University in the United Kingdom in July 2010.

Mr. Lam was an independent non-executive director of Northeast
Tiger Pharmaceutical Company Limited (a company listed on the
GEM of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 8197) from August
2008 to June 2015; a non-executive director of Ping Shan Tea
Group Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 364) from December 2014 to May 2015;
and an independent non-executive director of Highlight China loT
International Limited (formerly known as Ford Glory Group
Holdings Limited) (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 1682) from August 2014 to May
2017.

Mr. Lam has been an independent non-executive director of
Silverman Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1616) since June 2012; an
independent non-executive director of Sunway International
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 58) since May 2015; an
independent non-executive director of Finsoft Financial
Investment Holdings Limited (a company listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 8018) since June 2015; an
independent non-executive director of Holly Futures (a company
listed on Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 3678)
since June 2015; and an independent non-executive director of
Kin Shing Holdings Limited (a company listed on Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1630) since May 2017.

Mr. Lam is a licensed person for type 4 (advising on securities)
and type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under the
SFO.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(continued)

Mr. Lo Chi Ho, Richard has been appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director, a member of each of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
of the Company.

Mr. Lo, aged 49, has over 26 years of experience in the
investment and real estate industry. He is currently the chief
executive officer of Fulldiamond Limited, an investment and
consulting company specializing in real estate, finance, securities,
project and fundraising.

Mr. Lo is the vice president and chairman of commercial liaison
of The Hong Kong Real Property Federation. He is also a
committee member of Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference — Jiangxi.

Mr. Lo obtained his Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics from
the University of California, Los Angeles in the United States,
Master of Business Administration (Investment and Finance)
degree from Hull University in the United Kingdom and an
executive program certificate from Stanford University in the
United States.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ho Ying Cheung, aged 64, one of the founders of the Group.
He was appointed as a director of Kong Shum Union Property
Management Company Limited (The “KSU”) since August 1984.
He had been appointed as an Executive Director from 15 August
2012 to February 2015 and was responsible for the Group’s
overall business development.

Mr. Ho Ying Cheung is the brother of Mr. Ho Ying Choi, an
Executive Director. Mr. Lau Ping Kwai, a member of the Group’s
senior management, is the spouse of Mr. Ho Ying Cheung’s
cousin. Save as disclosed, Mr. Ho Ying Cheung is not connected
with any other Directors or member of senior management,
Substantial Shareholders or Controlling Shareholders of the
Company.

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Mr. Lau Ping Kwai, aged 66, is an associate director of KSU (note).
He has been working in KSU for more than sixteen years. He
joined KSU as a property management officer in September 1996
and was promoted to this position in April 2008. He is responsible
for supervising property managers and advising on the
improvement of the Group’s overall standard. He is also
responsible for marketing in the private sector.

Mr. Lau obtained a Certificate in Housing Practice at the School
of Professional and Continuing Education of The University of
Hong Kong (“HKUSPACE”) in August 2000 and was awarded a
Diploma in Housing Management by the same institute in
September 2002. He was elected a corporate member of the
Chartered Institute of Housing (“CIH"”) in October 2002 and a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Housing in November
2002. In April 2003, he registered as a Professional Housing
Manager at the Housing Managers Registration Board.

Note: The position “associate director” is a corporate title only and not a
“director” within the meaning of the Companies Ordinance and the GEM
Listing Rules. An associate director named herein is principally
responsible for (i) the supervision of property management of the Group
or its staff; (ii) supervision of the Group’s administration or overall

standard; and (iii) the Group’s customer relations.

Mr. Lau is the spouse of the cousin of Mr. Ho Ying Cheung, a
director of KSU, and Mr. Ho Ying Choi, an Executive Director.
Save as disclosed, Mr. Lau is not connected with any other
Directors, member of the senior management, Substantial
Shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Mr. Fong Shek Hung, aged 58, is an associate director of KSU
(note). He is mainly responsible for supervision of property
management, customer relations and administration.

Mr. Fong worked for the Hong Kong Government from 1978 to
2001. He joined the Housing Department in October 1987 and
was promoted to the position of housing officer in October 1989.
He resigned in August 2001 and subsequently served as property
manager in Synergis Management Services Limited. He was the
district general manager before he left the company in February
2011 and joined KSU in May 2011 as senior property manager.
He was promoted to the position of associate director of KSU
(note) in February 2012.

Mr. Fong has awarded a Diploma in Housing Management by
HKUSPACE in September 1997. He was elected as a corporate
member of the CIH in June 1999 and a member of The Hong
Kong Institute of Housing in June 2001. In May 2001, he
registered as a Professional Housing Manager at the Housing
Managers Registration Board.

Note: The position “associate director” is a corporate title only and not a

“director” within the meaning of the Companies Ordinance and the GEM
Listing Rules. An associate director named herein is principally
responsible for (i) the supervision of property management of the Group
or its staff; (ii) supervision of the Group’s administration or overall
standard; and (iii) the Group’s customer relations.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Mr. Yeung Pui Hung, aged 68, is a senior property manager of
KSU. He has already worked in KSU for 19 years and was
promoted to this position in April 2003. He is mainly responsible
for supervision of property management and customer relations.

For the period from September 1975 to January 1998, Mr. Yeung
worked in the Cathay Pacific Airways Limited. He joined KSU as
administration manager in February 1998.

He was awarded a Diploma in Management Studies jointly by the
Hong Kong Polytechnic and the Hong Kong Management
Association in September 1992.

Mr. So Sui Shan, aged 63, is a senior property manager of KSU.
He has already worked in KSU for more than eight years. He is
mainly responsible for supervision of property management and
customer relations.

Mr. So had served as a civil servant of the Hong Kong
Government since 1973. He was promoted as a housing manager
of the Housing Authority in January 1996. He served as a senior
property estate manager in Urban Property Management Limited
from August 2001 until September 2005. He was a senior
property manager of Shui On Properties Management Services
Limited from October 2005 to December 2007. He then joined
KSU as senior property manager in July 2008.

Mr. So obtained a Certificate in Housing Practice at the
Department of Extra-Mural Studies of HKU (now known as
HKUSPACE) in August 1981. He was awarded a graduate grade
of membership of The Institution of Fire Engineers of United
Kingdom in March 1986. He then pursued his studies in legal
field and obtained a bachelor’s degree of Laws from the University
of London as an external student in August 1992. He registered
as a Professional Housing Manager at the Housing Managers
Registration Board and was awarded a Certificate in Building
Services Engineering by the Hong Kong Institute of Vocational
Education in March 2001 and July 2001 respectively.

He was elected as a corporate member of the CIH and a fellow of
the Hong Kong Institute of Housing in 2002 and passed the
qualifying examination for estate agents of the Estate Agents
Authority in July 2007.
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Pursuant to Rule 18.44 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Board is
pleased to present this corporate governance report for the year
ended 31 March 2017.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board and the management of the Group are committed to
upholding high standards of corporate governance. The Board
considers that enhanced public accountability and corporate
governance are beneficial for the healthy growth of the Group,
improving customer and supplier confidence and safeguarding
the interests of shareholders of the Company.

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.
The principles adopted by the Company emphasize a quality
Board, sound internal controls, transparency and accountability
to all shareholders. The Company engaged a third-party
professional firm to conduct an internal control review for the year
ended 31 March 2017.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Company has
complied with all CG Code except for the following deviations:

(@) CG Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. The
division of responsibilities between the chairman and chief
executive should be clearly established and set out in
writing.

The Company did not officially have a chief executive officer
since 8 September 2015. Daily operation and management
of the Company is monitored by the Executive Directors as
well as the senior management. The Board is of the view
that although there is no chief executive officer of the
Company, the balance of power and authority is ensured by
the operation of the Board, which comprises experienced
individuals who meet from time to time to discuss issues
affecting the operations of the Company. The Board believes
that the present arrangement is adequate to ensure an
effective management and control of the Company’s
business operations. The Board will continue to review the
effectiveness of the Company’s structure as business
continues to grow and develop in order to assess whether
any changes, including the appointment of a chief executive
officer, is necessary.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE (continued)

(b)

CG Code provision A.4.2 stipulates that all Directors
appointed to fill a casual vacancy should be subject to re-
election by shareholders at the first general meeting after
appointment. Every director, including those appointed for a
specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years.

Mr. Yan Chi Ming was appointed by the Board as an
executive Director with effect from 17 December 2015 to fill
the casual vacancy occasioned as a result of the resignation
of Mr. Liu Dan, and Mr. Lam Kai Yeung was appointed by
the Board as an independent non-executive Director with
effect from 19 October 2015 to fill the casual vacancy
occasioned as a result of the resignation of Mr. Chow Siu
Lui. Due to an inadvertent oversight, Mr. Yan Chi Ming and
Mr. Lam Kai Yeung were not put forward for reelection at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 22
June 2016. Mr. Yan Chi Ming subsequently resigned with
effect from 29 July 2016 and Mr. Lam Kai Yeung retired and
was re-elected at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 28 September 2016 subsequently.

CG Code provision A.6.7 stipulates that independent non-
executive directors and other non-executive directors, as
equal board members, should give the board and any
committees on which they serve the benefit of their skills,
expertise and varied backgrounds and qualifications through
regular attendance and active participation. They should
also attend general meetings and develop a balanced
understanding of the views of shareholders.

Mr. Wong Kui Shing, Danny, a Non-executive Director, was
unable to attend the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 28 September 2016 due to business engagements.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group adopted the required standard of dealings set out in
Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as the code of
conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions in securities
of the Company. The Company also had made specific enquiry of
all Directors and the Company was not aware of any non-
compliance with the required standard of dealings and its code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors during the
financial year ended 31 March 2017.
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BOARD COMPOSITION AND DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy since 11
October 2013. The policy sets out the approach to achieve
diversity in the Board that should have a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Group’s business and compliance with
policies. The composition and diversity policies of the Board are
reviewed annually and regularly. The Board should ensure that its
changes in composition will not result in any undue interference.
The Board members should possess appropriate professionalism,
experience and trustworthiness in performing duties and
functions. The Board would diversify its members according to
the Company’s situations and needs. While participating in
nomination and recommendation of director candidates during
the year, each member of the Board may consider a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, or professional experience
in achieving diversity for the benefit of the Company’s various
business development and management. The Board is to review
the policy concerning diversity of Board members, and to disclose
the policy or a summary of the policy in the corporate governance
report, including any quantitative targets and standards and its
progress with policy implementation.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2017, the Board had
reviewed the diversity of the Board and considered the Board
composition and diversity policy appropriate.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for the Group’s affair
under the Board’s direction and supervision. All the Directors
should make decision objectively in the interests of the Company.
The overall responsibilities of the Board include considering and
making decisions on setting the cooperate goals of the Group and
formulating the Group’s strategy and monitoring the
implementation; diversification and extension of activities into new
business area; approving the annual, half year and quarterly
results; dividend policy; material acquisitions and disposal;
reviewing and monitoring the Group’s internal control systems;
and monitoring the performance of the Management.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Responsibilities (continued)

The Board delegates the day-to-day management, administration
and operation of the Group to the Management. The delegated
functions are reviewed by the Board periodically to ensure they
remain appropriate to the needs of the Group. The Board gives
clear directions to the management as to the matters that must
be approved by the Board before discussions are made on behalf
of the Group by the Management. All the Directors carry out their
duties in good faith and in compliance with applicable laws and
regulations, taking decisions objectively and acting in the interests
of the Company and its shareholders at all times.

Composition

The Board currently comprises 6 Directors, including 3 Executive
Directors and 3 Independent Non-executive Directors.

Executive Directors

Mr. Eric TODD (Chairman)
(appointed with effect from 1 August 2016)

Mr. Ho Ying Choi

Ms. Lee Chin Ching, Cyrix (appointed with effect from
20 December 2016)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tso Siu Lun, Alan
Mr. Lam Kai Yeung
Mr. Lo Chi Ho, Richard

Details of the backgrounds and qualifications of all Directors are
set out in the “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management”
section of this annual report. All Directors have given sufficient
time and attention to the affairs of the Group. Each Executive
Director has sufficient experience, knowledge and execution
ability to hold the position so as to carry out his duties effectively
and efficiently.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

The Board has assumed the responsibility to consider the
appointment, re-election and removal of the directors of the
Company. The Board set up a Nomination Committee to
recommend the appointment, re-election and removal of the
Directors.

All Executive Directors, namely, Mr. Eric Todd, Mr. Ho Ying Choi
and Mr. Lee Chin Ching, Cyrix, have respectively entered into a
service contract with the Company for a term of 1 to 3 years
unless terminated by not less than 1 to 3 months’ notice in writing
served by either part on the other. Executive Directors are subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting (“AGM") in accordance with the Articles.

All the Independent Non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lam
Kai Yeung, Mr. Lo Chi Ho, Richard and Mr. Tso Siu Lun, Alan,
have respectively entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of 3 years unless terminated by not less than
2 months’ notice in writing served by either part on the other. The
Independent Non-executive Directors are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the AGM in accordance with the
Articles.

At the forthcoming AGM, all Directors will retire from office and
are eligible for re-election. At each following AGM, one-third of the
Directors are required to retire from office. Each Directors shall
retire from office once every 3 years. The Directors to retire in
every year shall be those appointed by the Board during the year
and those who have been longest in office since their last election
or re-election. New Directors appointed by the Board during the
year shall retire and may submit themselves for re-election at the
AGM immediately following their appointments.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has made an
annual confirmation in writing of his independence pursuant to
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Company considers
that all the Independent Non-executive Directors were
independent during the year.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Biographies of Directors
and Senior Management” in this annual report, there is no
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship
among the members of the Board.

MANAGEMENT

The daily management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the Chairman, the Executive Directors
and senior management (the “Management”). The delegated
functions and assignments are periodically reviewed. Approval
has to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant
transactions entered into by the above mentioned officers.

The overall responsibilities of the Management include
considering and making decisions on implementing the Group’s
policy and strategies as set by the Board; strategic planning of
different business and functions; closely monitoring operational
and financial results in accordance with plans and budgets;
putting adequate operational, planning and financial control
systems in place; and managing the Group’s day to day business.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board fulfilled the requirement of appointing at least three
Independent Non-executive Directors and they represented at
least one-third of the Board as stipulated by the GEM Listing
Rules. It met requirement of having at least one of the
Independent Non-executive Directors with appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The Independent Non-executive Directors
have appropriate and sufficient experience and qualification to
carry out their duties so as to fully represent the interests of the
shareholders of the Company.
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BOARD MEETING, GENERAL MEETING AND
PROCEDURES

Directors’ attendance record of Board, Committee and General

Meetings during the year ended 31 March 2017 are as follows:

ESE2E2  RRAERBSER

HZE2017F3A31BLFE EEHFE

%‘m
=

REGRBRRAG ZRENT

Meetings attended/Eligible to attend

R/ GERLREE
Annual  Extraordinary

Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination General General
Directors Note Board  Committee ~ Committee  Committee Meeting Meeting
B Hiat EZe EFNZEE §MWZEe REZE88 RREFAE HKIRRAE®
Executive Directors: HTEE .
Eric Todd ERE 1 14/14 nla n/a nla 1 171
Ho Ying Choi f B 17/18 n/a 213 313 11 112
Lee Chin Ching, Cyrix TR 2 55 n/a n/a n/a n/a 11
Huang He B 3 4/5 nfa n/a n/a n/a nfa
Wu Yilin KA 4 6/6 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Yan Chi Ming BT 5 44 n/a n/a n/a n/a 11
Non-executive Director: FHITES
Wong Kui Shing, Danny THER 6 12/14 n/a n/a nia 01 11
Independent Non-executive ~ BUFHITES:

Directors:
Tso Siu Lun, Alan EEZ: 15/18 44 313 313 11 22
Lam Kai Yeung Al 18/18 4/4 313 313 11 22
Lo Chi Ho, Richard Btz 14/18 444 213 33 11 12
Notes: Bt :
n/a: not applicable nfa: iEA
1. Mr. Eric Todd was appointed as the Chairman of the Board and an 1. EREFEEEBEZERESTSEIRFNTES
Executive Director with effect from 1 August 2016. H2016F8 A1 HBAMN -

2. Mr. Lee Chin Ching, Cyrix was appointed as an Executive Director with 2. FRIELEEZEIR/RANTESE  H2016F 12

effect from 20 December 2016.

Ms. Huang He appointed as an Executive Director with effect from 13
October 2016 and resigned as an Executive Director with effect from 20
December 2016.

Ms. Wu Yilin resigned as an Executive Director with effect from 19
September 2016.

Mr. Yan Chi Ming resigned as the Chairman of the Board and an Executive
Director of with effect from 29 July 2016.

Mr. Wong Kui Shing, Danny, resigned as an non-executive Director with
effect on 18 January 2017.

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
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BOARD MEETING, GENERAL MEETING AND
PROCEDURES (continued)

Board members were provided with complete, adequate and
timely information to allow them to fulfill their duties properly.

Draft agenda of each Board meeting is sent to all Directors in
advance. Notice of at least fourteen days is given for a regular
Board meeting. For other Board and committees meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given. Board papers together with
all appropriate, complete and reliable information are dispatched
to all Directors at least three days before each regular Board
meeting to ensure that the Directors have sufficient time to review
the related documents and be adequately prepared for the
meeting.

The Company Secretary is responsible to keep minutes of all
Board meetings and committees meetings. Draft minutes are
normally circulated to all Directors for comments within a
reasonable time after each meeting and the final versions are
open for Director’s inspection.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

All Directors, including Non-executive Director and Independent
Non-executive Directors, should keep abreast of their collective
responsibilities as Directors and of the business and activities of
the Group.

All Directors confirmed that they had complied with code
provision A.6.5 of the Code during the year ended 31 March
2017, that all Directors had participated in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME (continued)

A summary of training received by the Directors for the year
ended 31 March 2017 according to the records provided by the

Directors as follows:

EERHESRRENE(E)

RESEFRTEZLE  EFNEE2017
F3A3IALFEMERZ 2BIIBRMT

Reading newspapers,
to obtain update  Reading materials
Attending seminars,  relating to economy, relevant to
conferences or accounting, rules, directors’ duties and
forums law or regulation, etc. responsibilities
BEEE 05
oE - gt MEEESEN
S RBI - EES BERER
Directors E= BEIME  LRSENER BENM R
Executive Directors: HITES:
Eric Todd ERR
(appointed on 1 August 2016) (201658 A1 HEZM) v v/ v/
Ho Ying Choi fa FE B v/ / /
Lee Chin Ching, Cyrix R
(appointed on 20 December 2016) (R20165 12 A20 R EZ ) v v/ v/
Hung He B
(appointed on 13 October 2016 and (R2016F 107 13BEZT -
resigned on 20 December 2016) 1201612 A 20 BEHT) v v/ v/
Wu Yilin RAH
(resigned on 19 September 2016) (20169 A 19 B EHE) v v/ /
Yan Chi Ming BTH
(resigned on 29 July 2016) (FR2016% 7 A29 HEHE) v/ v/ v/
Non-executive Director: FHTES
Wong Kui Shing, Danny FIBRX
(resigned on 18 January 2017) (R20174F 1 A 18 HEHT) v v/ /
Independent non-executive Directors: BYFBTES:
Tso Siu Lun, Alan R v v/ /
Lam Kai Yeung AR v v v
Lo Chi Ho, Richard BEx / / v

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit Committee with written
terms of reference, available on the Company’s website, in
compliance with the GEM Listing Rules. The Audit Committee is
currently composed of all the Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Lam Kai Yeung (chairman), Mr. Tso Siu
Lun, Alan and Mr. Lo Chi Ho, Richard.

The Audit Committee held 4 meetings during the year ended 31
March 2017 and reviewed the Company’s audited annual results
for the year ended 31 March 2016 and the unaudited quarterly
and interim results during the year ended 31 March 2017.

The function of the Audit Committee includes the following:
(i)  Relationship with the Company’s auditors:

(a) to be primarily responsible for make recommendation
to the Board on the appointment, reappointment and
removal of the external auditor and to approve the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external
auditor, and any questions of resignation or dismissal;

(b) to review and monitor the external auditor’s
independence and objectively and the effectiveness of
the audit process in accordance with applicable
standards. The Audit Committee should discuss with
the auditors the nature and scope of the audit and
reporting obligations before the audit commences;

(c) to develop and implement policy on engaging and
external auditor to supply non-audit services. For this
purpose, “external auditor” includes any entity that is
under common control, ownership or management
with the audit firm or any entity that a reasonable and
informed third party knowing all relevant information
would reasonably conclude to be part of the audit firm
nationally or internationally. The Audit Committee
should report to the Board, identifying and making
recommendations on ay matters where action or
improvement is needed.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

(i) Review of the Company’s financial information:

(a) to monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial
statements and annual report and accounts, half-year
report and/or quarterly reports, and to review significant
financial reporting judgments contained in them before
submission to the Board, focusing particularly on:

(1) any changes in accounting policies and practices;

(2) major judgmental areas;
(3) significant adjustments resulting from the audit;

(4) the going concern assumptions and any
qualifications;

(5) compliance with accounting standards; and

(6) compliance with GEM Listing Rules and legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting.

(iii) Oversight of the Company’s financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control procedures:

(a) to review the Company’s financial controls, internal
control and risk management systems.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee on the selection and appointment of the external
auditors for the year ended 31 March 2017. The Audit Committee
has reviewed the audited financial statements of the Group for the
year and recommended approval to the Board.

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference, available on the Company’s website, in
compliance with GEM Listing Rules. The Remuneration
Committee is currently composed of 1 Executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Ho Ying Choi and 3 Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Lam Kai Yeung (chairman), Mr. Tso Siu
Lun, Alan and Mr. Lo Chi Ho, Richard.

During the year under review, 3 Remuneration Committee
meetings were held to review the remuneration package of the
Directors and senior management of the Group.

The Remuneration Committee’s principal duties are the
determination of specific remuneration packages of all Executive
Directors, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment, and making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee should
consider factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities.

The Remuneration Committee meets regularly to determine the
policy for the remuneration of Directors and assess the
performance of Executive Directors and certain senior
management of the Group.

Remuneration of Directors

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by
the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualification and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are decided by
the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics.

The Directors’ fees and all other emoluments paid or payable to
the Directors during the year are set out on an individual and
named basis in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

YMEES

ARBERBERIER EHHRAKIFHME
g UWASEIAEBERSE HAR
ARARREIREY FHEESRFALS
HITE SRR A ST A M 3R B IEANTT
ERIMERBTE(EE)  BERMEER
BESTEHEK

REBEE LAMIAFHEE RSN
AR EEERERESRE HHY

% °

FHEZEENIZREAEEERITE
EMEEFM IR BREYHE - BIK
TN REEEFR - BB IEREINE
AIEBEE  ARBMIERITESNHEMH
EXSRAKEES FTNZESEES

HEAZE - flanel & SR B P e F M
By R AGE S A

FE B G AEE AR E T FIE
FRAEARERTEERETERER
BrOEA -

EEHM

AEBEENFMBERBFHME 8 S H
o ARENRRES  ERERT®HRE

it o

ARREFNFHHEFHZESEERAN
NAMEERE  HENRAMAIELR
BTG AT BURIRORE

FRAENAERNEZTZEZVEMABEER
557 M RO AR A B 795 3R R P R 12 DA (B Bl &
EELZHI -

Annual Report 2016/17
2016/17 F 3]

57



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

AR
EREBRSE

52

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued)

Remuneration of Senior Management

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the
remuneration of the senior management by band for the year
ended 31 March 2017 is set out below:

FMEES (&)
=R EE B K 5

RIBECEEATASTANEXEB.15E « &
ZE2017F3A31BILFE  ofEEEZ
FENEEEY T

Number of individual

[

In the band of En AE
Nil —= HK$1,000,000 Z 2 1,000,000 /& 7T 4
Over HK$1,000,000 1,000,000 /& JTIA 2

6

Further details of the remuneration of the Directors and the 5
highest paid employees are set out in note 12 to the consolidated

financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company set up a Nomination Committee with written terms

of reference, available on the Company’s website, in compliance

with the GEM Listing Rules. At the date of this annual report, the

Nomination Committee consists of 4 members, of which the
majority are Independent Non-executive Directors, namely, Mr.

Tso Siu Lun, Alan (chairman), Mr. Lam Kai Yeung, Mr. Lo Chi Ho,

Richard and an Executive Director, namely, Mr. Ho Ying Choi.

During the year under review, 3 meetings of the Nomination
Committee were held.

The duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity of perspectives) of the Board at least
annually; making recommendations on any proposed changes to
the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;
identifying individuals suitably qualified to become the Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board on
selection of individuals nominated for directorships of the
Company; assessing the independence of Independent Non-
executive Directors; reviewing and recommending the
appointment of new Directors; identifying the competences
required to enable the Board to fulfill its responsibilities; and
reviewing the Board Diversity Policy established for implementing
diversity on the Board periodically.

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
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COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

The Compliance Committee is a committee under the Company’s
Audit Committee and is chaired by Mr. Ho Ying Choi, an
Executive Director, and comprises Mr. Lau Ping Kwai, the
associate director (note) of the Company, Mr. Fong Shek Hung,
the associate director (note) of the Company and Mr. Cheng Kam
Hung, the financial controller of the Company. The Group’s legal
adviser, Y.C. Lee, Pang, Kwok & Ip Solicitors, is procured to
provide legal advices and to attend the committee meeting on a
needed basis. For the year ended 31 March 2017, 12 meetings
were held and the Group’s legal adviser had participated in 2
meetings. The minutes of the meetings were distributed to the
Group’s legal adviser, Y.C. Lee, Pang, Kwok & Ip Solicitors, and
the Audit Committee members for scrutiny and comment. The
Compliance Committee addresses the matters concerning the
compliance of law and regulations, contract terms and litigation
cases of the Group.

Note: The position “associate director” is a corporate title only and not a “director”
within the meaning of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) and the GEM Listing Rules. An associate director named
herein is principally responsible for (i) the supervision of property
management of the Group or its staff; (ii) supervision of the Group’s
administration or overall standard; and (iii) the Group’s customer relations.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2017, the remuneration for audit
and non-audit services are summarized below:
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Total =1 745,000
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of the financial statements of the Group and ensure that the
financial statements are prepared in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards. The Directors
also ensure the timely publication of the financial statements of
the Group.

The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, they
are not aware of any matters uncertainly relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibilities for the Group’s
internal control system and its effectiveness to ensure that the
internal control measures are in place to safeguard the Group’s
assets and to comply with relevant regulations and best practices.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company improves its business and operational activities by
identifying the areas of significant business risks via a regular
review and taking appropriate measures to control and mitigate
these risks. The Management of the Company reviews all
significant control policies and procedures and highlights all
significant matters to the Board and Audit Committee.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engages Mr. Sheung Kwong Cho (“Mr. Sheung”),
representative of Miracle Corporate Services Limited, as its
company secretary. His primary corporate contact person at the
Company is Mr. Eric Todd, an Executive Director.

In compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules, Mr.
Sheung has undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the year ended 31 March 2017.

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT TO CONVENE
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, the Board may, whenever it
thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”).
EGM shall also be convened on the requisition of one or more
Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not
less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having
the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be
made in writing to the Board or the secretary for the purpose of
requiring an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be
held within 2 months after the deposit of such requisition. If
within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

PROCEDURES FOR DIRECTING
SHAREHOLDERS’ ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders and other stakeholders can make any enquiry in
respect of the Company in writing to our Head Office at Unit 906,
9/F., Wings Building, 110-116 Queen’s Road Central, Hong
Kong.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PUT
FORWARD PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to move new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Companies Law
(Revised) of Cayman Islands. However, pursuant to the Articles,
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may by means of
requisition convene an EGM following the procedures set out
above.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2017, there is no significant change
in its constitutional documents.

CONTINUOUS CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
ENHANCEMENT

The Board is committed to continuous corporate governance
enhancement including giving closer attention to any regulatory
changes with a view to maintaining a corporate culture built on
ethics and integrity and increasing shareholders value as a whole.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EXERE

The Directors present their report and the audited financial
statements of Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding)
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are
set out in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance and its financial position
are provided in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year end 31 March 2017 and the
state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March 2017 are set out on
pages 84 to 171.

The state of affairs of the Company is set out in note 43 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2017.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group did not make any charitable donation for the year
ended 31 March 2017.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the past five financial years, as extracted from the
audited financial statements, is set out on page 172 of this annual
report. This summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2017 and a review of its future development is set out in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this
annual report.
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RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group have been
addressed in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” section

in this annual report.

In addition, various financial risks have been disclosed in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

AN ANALYSIS USING FINANCIAL KEY

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The relevant financial key performance indicators relating to the

business of the Group are set out under the paragraphs headed
“Financial Review” in the “Management Discussion and Analysis”

section and the consolidated financial statements in this annual

report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group recognises its responsibility to protect the environment
from its business activities. The Group continually seeks to

identify and manage environmental impacts attributable to its
operational activities in order to minimise these impacts if
possible. The Group aims to maximise energy conservation in its
offices by promoting efficient use of resources and adopting green

technologies. For instance, the Group seeks to upgrade

equipment such as lighting and air-conditioning systems in order

to increase overall operating efficiency. To identify energy

efficiency opportunities, the Group measures and records the
energy consumption intensity from time to time. Information on
the environmental policies and performance of the Company is
set out in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on
pages 70 to 78 of this Annual Report.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND OTHER
STAKEHOLDERS

The Group ensures all staff is reasonably remunerated and
regularly reviews the employment policies on remuneration and
other benefits.

The Group maintains a good relationship with its customers and
suppliers. The Group maintains close contacts with the customers
and has regular review of requirements of customers and
complaints. The Group will conduct appraisal of the performance
of suppliers on regular basis.

The Board believes effective communication and accurate and
timely information disclosure builds the Shareholders’ and
investors’ confidence, and also facilities the flow of constructive
feedback and ideas that are beneficial for investor relations and
future corporate development. For details, please refer to the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 40.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and risks of non-compliance with such
requirements. The Group has on-going review the newly enacted
laws and regulations affecting the operations of the Group. The
Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with the laws
and regulations that have significant impact on the business of
the Group.

SHARES ISSUED IN THE YEAR

Details of the shares issued in the year ended 31 March 2017 are
set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES

Details of the fund raising activities of the Group during the year
under review are set out in the paragraphs under “Fund raising
activities” in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” of this annual report.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 March 2017.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out on page 87 and in note 34
to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 March 2017,
calculated under the Cayman Islands Companies Law, amounted
to HK$63,328,102 (2016: HK$54,338,400) including share
premium of HK$96,000,132, accumulated losses of
HK$28,294,138, option reserve of HK$3,872,000, contributed
surplus of HK$4,750,108 and equity investment revaluation
deficit of HK$13,000,000.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS
Share options

Details of the share options granted are set out in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements. No share options were granted
during the year ended 31 March 2017.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to date of
this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Eric Todd (Chairman)

(appointed with effect from 1 August 2016)
Mr. Ho Ying Choi
Mr. Lee Chin Ching Cyrix (appointed with effect from

20 December 2016)
Ms. Huang He (resigned with effect from 20 December 2016)
Mr. Yan Chi Ming (resigned with effect from 29 July 2016)
Ms. Wu Yilin (resigned with effect from 19 September 2016)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Wong Kui Shing, Danny (resigned with effect from
18 January 2017)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tso Siu Lun, Alan
Mr. Lam Kai Yeung
Mr. Lo Chi Ho, Richard

Ms. Huang He (“Ms. Huang”) had resigned as the executive
Director with effect from 20 December 2016 due to her other
business commitments. Ms. Huang confirmed that she has no
disagreement with the Board and there are no matter relating to
her resignation which need to be brought the attention of the
Shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Yan Chi Ming (“Mr. Yan”) had resigned as the Chairman of
the Board and an executive Director with effect from 29 July
2016 due to his other business commitments. Mr. Yan confirmed
that he has no disagreement with the Board and there are no
matter relating to his resignation which need to be brought the
attention of the Shareholders of the Company.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

Ms. Wu Yilin (“Ms. Wu”) had resigned as an executive Director
with effect from 19 September 2016 so as to devote more time to
her personal career. Ms. Wu confirmed that she has no
disagreement with the Board and there are no matter relating to
her resignation which need to be brought the attention of the
Shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Wong Kui Shing Danny (“Mr. Wong”) had resigned as an
non-executive Director with effect from 18 January 2017 as he
wished to devote more time to his personal career. Mr. Wong
confirmed that she has no disagreement with the Board and there
are no matter relating to his resignation which need to be brought
the attention of the Shareholders of the Company.

In accordance with the Articles of the Company, one-third of the
Directors will retire and being eligible offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming AGM. Accordingly, Mr. Lee Chin
Ching, Cyrix and Mr. Ho Ying Choi shall hold office until the next
following AGM of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company and the
senior management of the Group are set out on page 32 to 39 of
the annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of the Company, a permitted indemnity
provision for the benefit of the Directors is currently in force and
was in force throughout the financial year. The Company has
purchased the Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance to
provide protection against claims arising from the lawful discharge
of duties by the Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors is appointed for
an initial term of three year commencing from their respective
dates of appointment and shall continue thereafter from year to
year until terminated by two month’s notice in writing served by
either party on the other party.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENT AND
CONTRACTS

Save for the respective director service contracts with each
Director, and save as disclosed under the paragraph
“Discloseable and connected transaction involving the issue of
the promissory notes” on page 23 of the annual report, no
transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company’s
subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its parent company was a party
in which a Director of the Company and the Director’s connected
party had a material interest whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year
under review.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to Shareholders’ approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the
Board with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance and the results of the Group as well as the
recommendation of the Remuneration Committee. Further details
of the Company’s Remuneration Committee are set out in the
corporate governance report on page 51 of the annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument of the employees of the Group is determined by
the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are decided by
the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics.
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group participates in a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(“the MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying employees employed.
The MPF scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan
administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme,
the Group and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF scheme vest immediately.

The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group, in fund under the control of trustees. During the year
ended 31 March 2017, total contributions paid or payable to the
MPF scheme by the Group amounted to approximately HK$9.5
million (2016: approximately HK$9.4 million) which had been
recognized as expenses and included in staff costs in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group adopted the required standard of dealings set out in
Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as the code of
conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions in securities
of the Company. The Company also had made specific enquiry of
all Directors and the Company was not aware of any non-
compliance with the required standard of dealings and its code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors during the
year ended 31 March 2017.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2017, none of the Directors and chief executive
of the Company had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required
standard of dealings by directors of listed issuers as referred to in
Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 March 2017 was the
Company, its subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries, its parent
company or its other associated corporations a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors and chief executive of the
Company (including their spouse and children under 18 years of
age) to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares or
underlying shares in, or debentures of, the Company or its
specified undertakings or other associated corporation.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER PERSONS
DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO

So far is known to the Directors, as at 31 March 2017, there is no
Shareholder (other than a director or chief executive of the
Company) who had interests or short positions in the securities of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
who were deemed to be directly and indirectly interested in 5% or
more of the issued share capital of the Company, or which were
recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO and the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

INTERESTS OF THE COMPLIANCE ADVISER

As confirmed by the former compliance adviser of the Company,
Ample Capital Limited, whose engagement was completed on 28
June 2016 in full compliance of the relevant GEM Listing Rules
requirements, except for the compliance adviser agreement
entered into between the Company and Ample Capital Limited
dated 27 September 2013, neither Ample Capital Limited or its
directors, employees or close associates (as defined under the
GEM Listing Rules) had any interest in relation to the Group or the
share capital of any member of the Group which is required to be
notified to the Company pursuant to Rule 6A.32 of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Particulars of the Company’s share option schemes are set out in
note 35 to the consolidated financial statement. The total number
of shares available for issue under the share option scheme is
40,000,000 shares, which represented approximately 5.61% of
the issued shares of the Company as at the date of this annual
report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

A summary of the related party transactions entered into by the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2017 is set out in note 41
to the consolidated financial statements.

The following transactions between certain connected persons (as
defined in the Listing Rules) and the Company have been entered
into or are ongoing for which relevant announcement, if
necessary, had been made by the Company in accordance with
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Continuing connected transactions

On 14 March 2016, More Rise Investment Limited (“More Rise"),
as the owner of the Tuen Mun office and storage property in Hong
Kong, and KSU entered into a rental agreement (the “Tuen Mun
Office Lease Agreement”) under which the Tuen Mun office and
storage property in Hong Kong is leased to KSU for a term of one
year from 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017 at a monthly rental of
HK$32,000. For each of the years ended 31 March 2017 and
2016, the aggregate rent paid by KSU to More Rise in respect of
the Tuen Mun office and storage property were HK$384,000 and
HK$336,000 respectively. More Rise is jointly owned by Mr. Ho
Ying Choi and Mr. Ho Ying Cheung, Directors of the Company
(Mr. Ho Ying Cheung resigned as an executive Director of the
Company on 6 February 2015 and remain as a director of KSU).

On 1 August 2016, Kong Shum Union (China) Limited (“KSU
China”), as the owner of the motor vehicle in Hong Kong, and
KSU entered into a rental agreement (the “Motor Vehicle Rental
Agreement”) under which the motor vehicle in Hong Kong is
leased to KSU for a term of one year from 1 August 2016 to 31
July 2017 at a monthly rental of HK$48,000. For each of the
years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016, the aggregate rent paid
by KSU to KSU China in respect of the motor vehicle were
HK$568,000 and HK$368,000 respectively. KSU China is owned
by Super Potent Limited, a company owned by both Mr. Ho Yip
Choi and his spouse.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Continuing connected transactions (continued)

Pursuant to Rule 20.74(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, the
transactions under the Tuen Mun Office Lease Agreement and
the Motor Vehicle Rental Agreement, when considered in
aggregate, are exempted from the shareholders’ approval, annual
review and all disclosure requirements under Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the
requirements in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules in respect
of the transactions under the Tuen Mun Office Lease Agreement
and the Motor Vehicle Rental Agreement.

As at 31 March 2016 and 2017, Mr. Ho Ying Choi, an Executive
Director and Mr. Ho Ying Cheung, who resigned as an Executive
Director on 6 February 2015 and remained as a Director of KSU
had provided joint and several unlimited personal guarantees in
favour of banking facilities granted to certain subsidiaries within
the Group for nil consideration. At 31 March 2016, More Rise
and Fortune Trend Investment Limited, two companies controlled
by Mr. Ho Ying Choi and Mr. Ho Ying Cheung, had provided
unlimited guarantees and pledged their properties to secure
banking facilities granted to certain subsidiaries within the Group
for nil consideration. At 31 March 2017, the properties have been
released from charge.

Pursuant to Rule 20.88 of the GEM Listing Rules, these
transactions are exempted from shareholders’ approval, annual
review and all disclosure requirements under Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the
requirements in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules in respect
of the above financial assistance received.

Save as disclosed above, none of the related party transactions
set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial statement
constitutes connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s revenue and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively
during the year are as follows:

TERFRHER

AEBNEIERFPRHEEHEGERNFER
mRERBOERIT

Purchases

and

cleaning

Revenue subcontracting

W 5 B R A

HK$ HK$

BIT BT

The largest customer ST 15,849,931 N/A 5@ A
Five largest customers in aggregate AREFER 61,627,636 N/A 71 A
The largest supplier RAHER N/A N3 A 6,239,661
Five largest suppliers in aggregate hAAREEEER N/A i@ 12,986,771

For the year ended 31 March 2017, the aggregate percentage of
purchase attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers is
approximately 76.4% of the total purchases of the Group and the
largest supplier included therein amounted to approximately
36.7%.

For the year ended 31 March 2017, the aggregate percentage of
sales attributable to the Group’s five largest customers is
approximately 15.6% of the total sales of the Group and the
largest customer included therein amounted to approximately
4.0%.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of
the Company’s issued shares) had any interest in the Group’s five
largest customers or suppliers.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year.

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
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COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the controlling Shareholders or Directors and their
respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)
is interested in any business apart from the business operated by
the Group which competes or is likely to compete, directly or
indirectly, with the Group’s business.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, it is confirmed that
there is sufficient public float of at least 25% of the Company’s
issued share as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of
the annual report.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Details of events after the reporting period of the Group are set
out in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance report is set out on pages
40 to 56 of the annual report.

AUDITORS

World Link CPA Limited resigned as the auditor of the Company
on 25 April 2017 and ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, Certified
Public Accountants, was appointed as the auditor of the Company
on 25 April 2017 to fill the vacancy following the resignation of
World Link CPA Limited. A resolution will be submitted at the
forthcoming annual general meeting to re-appoint ZHONGHUI
ANDA CPA Limited as the auditor of the Company for the ensuing
year.

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
/HONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited who retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Eric Todd
Chairman

Hong Kong
23 June 2017
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SCOPE AND REPORTING PERIOD

As a company based and serve in Hong Kong, the KONG SHUM
Union Property Management (Holding) Limited (Thereafter
“Group” or “We”) is fully committed to environment protection,
socially responsible and equipped with the strictest corporate
governance. In pursuant to the newly released requirement of the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting guide
(“Environmental, Social and Governance Guide”) in Appendix 27
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities from the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, we have prepared the 2016
Environmental Social and Governance Report (thereafter “ESG
Report”), covering business segments that includes financial
management, property management (including cleaning, repair
and maintenance), property security service and household
e-commerce services. The scope of this report will cover the
Group’s initiatives on introducing the concept of ESG to our
employees and clients, putting them into practices to our daily
operations and disclosing results as a year-end summary over this
covered period.

It is also the intention of our management to provide an overview
of our Group’s direction in managing ESG related issues, driving
for ESG initiatives throughout the group, and communicating our
ESG performance result with our stakeholders.

The reporting period of this report shall cover the date from 1
April 2016 to 31 March 2017.

ENVIRONMENT

Generating revenue for our shareholders, while providing the best
service to our clients, and recognising the importance and
contribution to the local environment and community have always
been one of our guiding principles.

Due to the nature and the wide scope of our business, it is
important for us to identify and manage environmental impacts
attributable to our operational activities in order to minimise these
impacts if possible. It is also our intention to promote environment
protection internally throughout our operation, and encourage the
same to our clients and improve all together.

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
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AIR EMISSION

The group took the initiative to examine the issue of air emission
across all of our operation, and the result indicated no significant
impact could be reported. Due to our business nature, We did not
involve with any combustion process, industrial, or heavy
transportation activities that could lead to direct emission to the
atmosphere. Thus, we posed no major impact in the Air Emission
aspect. We will continue monitoring our operation and ensuring
our air emission will be maintained at this level, and will
disclosure further information as changes occur.

CARBON EMISSION

Besides our effort in monitoring air pollutant emission, our Group is
also exploring measures into reducing our carbon emission, and in
particularly reducing our overall carbon footprint. As a first step, We
estimated our carbon footprint, as a Group and for this reporting
year, based on our electricity consumption and the emission factor
provided by our electricity providers (data on electricity
consumption and the carbon intensity factor are available on the
electricity bill and the Sustainability Report from our electricity
provider respectively). With this information available to us, We look
to further investigate and work with our employees, along with
external stakeholders, on enhancing our overall performance and
minimizing our carbon footprint. Further information and progress
will be disclosed in the subsequent ESG report.

As a summary, and based on our electricity consumption alone,
the Carbon Footprint for our Group in this reporting year (1 April
2016 to 31 March 2017) was 178,805tC0O2e.

WASTE MANAGEMENT

After careful investigation, We concluded that our operation did
not involve handling any hazardous waste, and thus no significant
impact was recorded.

For non-hazardous waste, the Group kept a close working
relationship with our partner and had been promoting waste
reduction to our staff. Measures such as waste recycling on
paper, and the appropriate use of recycled paper was encouraged
in our workplaces. In addition, We took the initiative further by
driving for a paper-less working environment. Our staff were
encouraged to work and communicate through emails and
e-format documents instead of hard copies. The effort was well
received and was supported by our staff.
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USE OF RESOURCES

As an environmental friendly company, our group is actively
persuading the culture of “Smart Usage” of Natural Resources,
and energy or electricity consumption is particularly our primary
focus.

Initiatives such as adopting to an energy conservation and
efficiency policy and practices in offices and utilizing green
technologies, were successfully implemented throughout the
year. Some of our measures included upgrading equipment on
lighting and air-conditioning systems, and recording our energy
consumption intensity to identify energy efficiency opportunities.

In addition, the concept of “Smart Usage” had been incorporated
in different parts of our business and was proposed as different
actionable items. The plan was built based on estimated demand
and supply, cost effectiveness, energy saving, equipment and
was used as promotional strategies to attract potential carpark
clients. Most of these proposed action items were either
discussed or already implemented with our potential clients, and
would be carried out in phases.

ENVIRONMENT AND RESOURCES

Our Group understands energy generation is a heavy fossil fuel
burning process, and it leads to a significant impact to our
environment as polluting substances would directly emitted to the
atmosphere. With this in mind, We are naturally cautious about
our electricity consumption and trying our best to minimize on our
impacts.

In line with our “Smart Usage” direction, We actively promoted
the concept of smart usage of electricity in our premises.
Initiatives such as adopting to an energy conservation and
efficiency policy and practices in offices and utilizing green
technologies, were successfully implemented throughout the
year. Heavy energy consuming devices were regularly checked
and upgraded, as necessary (ie: lighting and air conditioning), to
ensure they were operating at their level of optimum.

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
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ENVIRONMENT AND RESOURCES (continued)

We also worked with our staff by promoting the “Smart Usage”
concept, and reminded them to take-action throughout their daily
operation. For example, notices were posted around different
office area, reminding our staff on turning off lights and
photocopier after use. Staff were also reminded to maintain a
good practice on utilizing our electronic devices, such as creating
a comfortable working environment by setting the air-conditioner
to 25.5°C; or printing documents double sided whenever it was
appropriate. We will continue monitoring and improving our
performance as opportunity arise.

As a summary, and after a careful data consolidation and
analysis, our Group reported a total of 110,190kWh of electricity
and 845m? of water consumption in this reporting period.

SOCIAL

The business of our Group spreads across several industry
sectors, and involves a large number of great individuals working
with us. Offering competitive compensation to our staff, while
treating all of our staff equally and fairly, and complying to laws
and regulations have always been one of our Group’s guiding
principles. Our Group will monitor and improve in areas as
needed, and continue to grow sustainably and in a socially
responsible manner.

EMPLOYMENT

As a socially responsible company, our Group understands the
success of any Company hinder largely on the People that works
with us. We recognize the contribution from our People and the
success that they bring, and consider them as our greatest asset.
We believe their works of excellence must be well compensated,
and thus offer a competitive remuneration and benefits scheme
to retain our talents.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

To ensure our remuneration scheme stay competitive, our Group
had established a Remuneration Committee, and with the
principal duties in determination of specific remuneration
packages of all Executive Directors, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment, and
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee should
also consider factors such as salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and responsibilities, and include
those factors into the decision process.

The Remuneration Committee will meet regularly to determine the
policy for the remuneration of Directors and assess the
performance of Executive Directors and certain senior
management of the Group.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument of the employees of our Group is determined by
the remuneration Committee, and will be assessed based on
merit, qualifications and competence. The emoluments of the
Directors of the Company are decided by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Our Group participates in a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(“the MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying employees employed.

The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group, in fund under the control of trustees. During the year
ended 31 March 2017, total contributions paid or payable to the
MPF scheme by the Group amounted to approximately HK$9.45
million (approximately HK$9.40 million in the previous year),
which had been recognized as expenses and included in staff
costs in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
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HEALTH AND SAFETY

Safety has always been one of the priority for our Group, and we
strive to maintain high occupational safety and health standards,
for providing a safe and comfortable working environment to our
staff.

Our office building is spacious with abundant ancillary resources,
including a dining room, resting area, and convenient basic
household appliances. The Group performed regular safety
inspection on drinking facilities, air-conditioning and wiring, and
provided safety guidance promotion and fire drills, and reminded
our staff to pay attention to public safety during holidays.
Equipment such as fire extinguishers, fire escape masks and
safety helmets at construction sites, were placed in prominent
locations in offices, and were easily accessible to all employees.

In summary, the following measures were adopted during the
reporting period to strengthen our staff's awareness on Health
and Safety issues:

° A one-time health and safety trainings was conducted for
new employees to strengthen their overall health and safety
awareness;

e A work safety and health meeting was held monthly to fulfil
employees’ daily health and first-aid needs; and

o Regular workshop was conducted on enhancing our security
staff knowledge on emergency incident management (ie:
gas leak, riot and etc).

During the reporting period from 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017,
our Group had no material non-compliance breach with relevant
standards, rules and regulations, and no any major accident were
encountered during operation.
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EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES, DIVERSITY AND ANTI-
DISCRIMINATION

The Group emphasizes on equal opportunity, our employment,
training and promotion practices do not discriminate on grounds

of gender, disability, pregnancy, family status, race, color,
religion, age, sexual orientation, national origin, trade union
membership or other conditions recognized in law.

Our Corporate Policy includes provisions on handling
discrimination, harassment and victimization in the workplace. In

addition, We collected applicant ID cards, QAS certificates and

security personnel permits, according to the Security and
Guarding Services Ordinance (Chapter 460), in order to verify the
identity and qualification of our security guard applicant.

To encourage career development, We provided different training

programs, including training programmes for security guards on

working attitude and security knowledge, to our staff to further

enhance their skills and services. Rewards based on the reward
& punishment measures for employees, would be handed to

those who made significant contributions in daily work.

Outstanding employees would be given priority on potential
promotion or improvement opportunity during annual employee
appraisals.

We valued talent and employed the best fit at the position
disregard of their genders. Public recruitment will be conducted
annually and equal opportunity will also be provided to every
employee through appraisal, remuneration and incentive system.
The following charts provided an overview of our staff's gender
distribution in this reporting period:
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EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES, DIVERSITY AND ANTI-
DISCRIMINATION (continued)

Our Group had issued a comprehensive staff handbook, which
provided the basis for human resources management, about our
Employment Policy, Welfare and Benefits, Leave and Rest days,
Conduct and Discipline, Occupational Health and Safety Policy,
Personal Data (Privacy) Policy, Equal Opportunity Policy. Each of
our staff were provided with a copy of this Employee Handbook
upon joining the Company, with updates were informed upon any
revision.

EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND
OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

Our Group value relationship with our customers and suppliers,
and treat it as an important aspect of our business. We maintain
an open engagement channel with our customers through
complaint revision meetings, as it brings insight to our operation
performance. It was proven to be effective in understand the
latest updates and to better our services. We are also dedicated
to build a close working relationship with our suppliers, and We
conducted regular performance revision and appraisal to build a
closer working relationship with our clients.

We also believe an effective communication should include a
timely and accurate information disclosure. Not only it brought
confident to our Shareholders’ and investors’, which were
beneficial for investor relations, it also invited constructive
feedback for perfecting our operation.

We will continue the success of our open communication, and
the interactions will be sustained for a successful working
relationship with our stakeholders in the future.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION

Our Group is strictly complying to all law requirements and fully
committed in restricting any of illegal activities, including
Corruption, without exception. We requested our staff to
understand, prohibit and work with us to safeguard our Group
throughout their daily operation, and also prevent money
laundering activities. We established the whistleblowing channels
for reporting inappropriate conduct and other irregularities issue,
which were against our relevant policies and guidelines. In order
to strengthen our employee’s understanding on the topic, we
organized regular internal trainings, and provided real-life cases
and measures to avoid non-compliance activity that may incur.
We also prepared a working guideline on “Anti-Corruption
Measures on Account, Security, Construction, Property
Management” as a reference, and it was publicly available and
fully accessible to all of our employees.

During the period from 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017, our
Group was unaware of any action that non-compliance to legal
regulation, and related to corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering.

COMMUNITY

Our Group understand the importance of our business is to both
generate and bring in profit to our shareholders, and also being
socially responsible to care, serve and give back to our community
wherever is needed at the same time.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

For the past nine years, our Group has been receiving the
recognition as a “Caring Company” under the Caring Company
Scheme by HKCSS. We, and together with our staff, were
dedicated and committed to fully support local charity
organizations, NGOs and their volunteering activities by allocating
portion of our revenue to build a better local community.

During this reporting period from 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017,
our Group contributed a total of HK$5,000 in supporting the local
charity in both the social and health area.

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
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I

ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF KONG SHUM UNION PROPERTY
MANAGEMENT (HOLDING) LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kong
Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) set out on pages 84 to 171, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2017,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 March 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

(i

Investment property

Refer to note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group measured its investment property at fair value
with the changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated
profit or loss. This fair value measurement is significant to
our audit because the balance of investment property of
HK$28,817,301 as at 31 March 2017 is material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s
fair value measurement involves application of judgement
and is based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

Assessing the competence, independence and integrity
of the external valuer engaged by client;

Obtaining the external valuation report and meeting
with the external valuer to discuss and challenge the
valuation process, methodologies used and market
evidence to support significant judgments and
assumptions applied in the valuation model;

Checking key assumptions and input data in the
valuation model to supporting evidence;

Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation model;
and

Assessing the disclosure of the fair value measurement
in the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s fair value measurement of the
investment property is supported by the available evidence.

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
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(ii) Trade receivables

Refer to note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the amount of trade receivables for
impairment. This impairment test is significant to our audit
because the balance of trade receivables of HK$47,009,460
as at 31 March 2017 is material to the consolidated financial
statements. In addition, the Group’s impairment test involves
application of judgement and is based on estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

— Assessing the Group’s procedures on granting credit
limits and credit periods to customers;

— Assessing the Group’s relationship and transaction
history with the customers;

—  Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;

— Assessing ageing of the debts;

— Assessing creditworthiness of the customers;

—  Checking subsequent settlements from the customers;

— Assessing the disclosure of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk in the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for trade
receivables is supported by the available evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the Company’s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The other information
is expected to be made available to us after the date of this
auditor’s report.
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Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT

OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
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conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA’s
website at: http://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/standards-and-
regulations/standards/auditing-assurance/auditre/
This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Ngan Hing Hon
Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P05294

Hong Kong, 23 June 2017
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2017 2016
2017 & 20164
Notes HK$ HK$
Kt BT BT
REVENUE & 7/ 395,513,512 374,024,102
Cost of services BRAS R AR (312,205,562) (295,755,913)
Gross profit EF 83,307,950 78,268,189
Other revenue Hilgzs 8 338,310 1,493,796
Administrative expenses TR (51,957,774) (53,823,218)
Other operating expenses EmEi@ERS (17,984,352) (18,991,473)
Finance costs RE R AR 10 (195,855) (991,742)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX RR B AR R 13,508,279 5,955,552
Income tax expense FrigfiF 13 (3,320,101)  (3,140,684)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE A& A T#EA AELFERZER
TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 11 10,188,178 2,814,868
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME, Hib 2w (F0BRFLIE)
NET OF TAX
Items that will not be reclassified to #5172 & #7748 2 825 /)
profit or loss: IH5H :
Loss on equity investment at BRARBEFAEMEEKZES
fair value through other B A4S & B 5 18
comprehensive income 24 (4,267,000) (8,733,000)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE ADAEEAEBGLER
INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 2HEWE (F5R) 458
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE COMPANY 5,921,178 (5,918,132)
EARNINGS PER SHARE (HK$) BREAEF (BxT) 14
— Basic — =K 0.018 0.006
— Diluted — s 0.018 0.006

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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As at 31 March 2017 JR201743H31 H

2017 2016
2017 & 2016 4%
Notes HK$ HK$
BiaF BT BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BEMEE 17 12,654,309 3,452,658
Investment property wREYE 18 28,817,301 -
Intangible assets M EE 19 7,886,735 -
Goodwill RS 21 784,704 -
Deposits placed for life insurance MASERBRETFANIES
policies 22 8,169,842 7,955,915
Deposits for acquisition of an associate Ui —fEE & QA RIS 23 28,350,000 -
Equity investment at fair value through 12 AR Bz A M 2k
other comprehensive income MR AR & 24 - 4,267,000
Deferred tax assets B IEEE 25 2,547,327 2,306,791
89,210,218 17,982,364
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 NhEMEW R IE 26 61,914,124 54,519,563
Pledged bank deposits BEEIRITIFR 27 7,105,972 7,595,971
Cash and cash equivalents HeRESEEY 28 45,164,990 64,772,631
114,185,086 126,888,165
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 M EMER FRIE 29 64,006,351 46,101,883
Bank borrowings — secured RITEE —HHEH 30 9,370,264 8,582,888
Finance lease payables FEN R E T E I8 31 219,346 289,043
Current tax liabilities BNEAIE B & 999,259 1,251,769
74,595,220 56,225,583
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEZFE 39,589,866 70,662,582
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERABER
LIABILITIES 128,800,084 88,644,946

Annual Report 2016/17
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2017 2016
2017 & 2016
Notes HK$ HK$
Kt BT BT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Finance lease payables FERT R E M E KT8 31 83,805 303,150
Promissory notes payable JER A R R 32 12,157,882 -
Deferred tax liabilities EEMIEAE 25 288,108 -
12,529,795 303,150
NET ASSETS EEZEE 116,270,289 88,341,796
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners KATHEE AELER
of the Company
Share capital R 33 5,941,515 4951515
Reserves s 34 110,328,774 83,390,281
TOTAL EQUITY FEREE 116,270,289 88,341,796

The consolidated financial statements on pages 84 to 171 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 23

June 2017 and are signed on its behalf by:

Approved by:

Eric Todd
ERE
Director

EF

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

REEREER

For the year ended 31 March 2017 #% 201743431 HIFF/E

Attributable to owners of the Company

NG LU T
Equity
investment Convertible
Share Share  Share option Merger revaluation notes Retained
capital premium* reserve* reserve* reserve* reserve* profits Total
&
REER  TARES
R BRORE BRERE  AHEE fhfE ffE* REER At
Note HKS HKS$ HKS$ HK$ HKS$ HK$ HK$ HKS$
itk BT BT AT BT BT AT AT BT
At 1 April 2015 R215F4A1H 4000000 24,087,947 745,360 4,750,108 - - 5703488 39,286,903
Recognition of share-based AARAZR
payments A - - 3,126,640 - - - - 3,126,640
Issue of convertible notes BUnkEg - - - - - 640,000 - 640,000
Issue of shares upon conversion SRR AR Z EEF
of convertible notes Bkt 151515 20488485 - - - (640,000) - 20,000,000
Placing of shares RRERI 800,000 30,406,385 - - - - - 31,206,385
Total comprehensive income/loss)  ER2ANE /(1)
for the year 2% - - - - (8733,000) - 281488 (5918132
At 31 March 2016 R20653A31A 4951515 74,982,817 3,872,000 4,750,108 (8,733,000) - 8518356  88341,7%
At 1 April 2016 R2016F4A1R 4,951,515 74,982,817 3,872,000 4,750,108 (8,733,000) - 8518356 88,341,796
Placing of shares (note 33) RERN (H#33) 990,000 21,017,315 - - - - - 22,007,315
Total comprehensive income/(loss)  ER2ENE /(E8)
for the year &% - - - - (4,267,000) - 10,188,178 5,921,178
At 31 March 2017 R201763A31H 5941515 96,000,132 3,872,000 4,750,108 (13,000,000) - 18706534 116,270,289
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves in the  * W EREBRAKZ A MBI R GEAHE -

consolidated statement of financial position.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 # %2017 43 H31 HIFF/Z

38

2017 2016
2017 F 2016 F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES R EEEBRERE
Profit before tax B A5t A& Al 13,508,279 5,955,552
Adjustments for: BTy SIBEL AR -
Finance costs BLE B 195,855 991,742
Interest income F BUTA (303,310) (288,731)
Depreciation of property, Y - BB MEETE
plant and equipment 1,163,297 1,445,965
Premium charged on life insurance AEREREPTREURE
policies 80,414 75,073
Gain on waiver of amount due to R HRARIER AT
ultimate holding company SRIER W - (1,205,065)
Equity-settled share-based payments 12 i e 45 B AR ST AR
18 - 3126640
Gain on disposal of property, HEYE - BEREHEHRE
plant and equipment (5,000) -
Amortisation of intangible assets BB E#E 717,512 -
15,357,047 10,101,176
Change in trade and other receivables H 5 & H A WG IE S &) (6,347,003) (8,015,216)
Change in trade and other payables B 5 R E A e IR 5,598,148 3,628,229
Change in amount due to ultimate FE AR IR A R IEE B
holding company - (452,086)
Cash generated from operations KEEEZIRE® 14,608,192 5,262,103
Interest paid ERFHE (177,962) (328,872)
Finance lease charges paid ENmERESLH (17,893) (22,870)
Income tax paid EASPREH (3,777,303)  (1,447,030)
Net cash flows generated from RETHMBHREREFE
operating activities 10,635,034 3,463,331

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERTRER

For the year ended 31 March 2017 #Z 201743 431 HiF4/E

2017 2016
2017 F 2016 F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES #REEEFABRERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BB ¥% - KE R &E (4,575,069) (314,614)
Purchase of investment property BEIREMHE (11,277,372) -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWME - BRE RREFT
plant and equipment 5,000 -
Purchase of intangible assets BERTLEE (6,550,000) -
Net cash outflow arising from EBEHELNIRER
business combination (2,499,851) -
Deposit for acquisition of an associate U B8 — R B 2 (28,350,000) -
Payment for equity investment at fair value 2 fHZ QAR BT AE b 2 IS HY
through other comprehensive income A& ARG & - (13,000,000)
Decrease/(increase) in pledged EEMIRITFK
bank deposits B (g ) 489,999 (2,633,700)
Interest received RSN 8,970 4,227
Net cash flows used in investing activities REFZHFFARERETEE (52,748,323) (15,944,087)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES ®MEEEEBRERE
Repayment of bank loans BRRITER (1,697,054)  (7,738,029)
Proceeds from placing of shares fid & B 1 P15 5008 22,770,000 32,000,000
Share issue expenses paid B ETRY (762,685) (793,615)
Proceeds from issue of convertible notes 27T AJ #A A% =48 P15 FIE - 20,000,000
Repayment of finance lease payables BRENREMEENREA (289,042) (400,505)
Net cash flows generated from financing METHMEBHRERERHE
activities 20,021,219 43,067,851
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN ReRBLEZEY
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (R2),HE iR (22,092,070) 30,587,095
Cash and cash equivalents at FUHe RRSEZEY

beginning of year 63,127,197 32,540,102

Cash and cash equivalents atend of year HEXEERBELSZEY 41,035,127 63,127,197
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND ReRASEEBYHERDIM
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances RE RIRTTER 45,164,990 64,772,631
Bank overdrafts RITEX (4,129,863)  (1,645,434)
41,035,127 63,127,197
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
(the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with limited liability. Its shares were listed on the Growth
Enterprise Market (the “GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 11 October
2013. The address of its registered office is at Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The address of its principal
place of business is Unit 906, 9/F., Wings Building, 110-
116 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 20 to
the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$”), unless otherwise stated.

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and
revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) that are relevant to its
operations and effective for its accounting year beginning on
1 April 2016 and early adopted HKFRS 9 (2014) “Financial
Instruments”. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS”); and Interpretations.

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2017 #Z 201743 431 HiF4/E

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

HKFRS 9 (2014) “Financial Instruments”

The Group has early adopted HKFRS 9 (2014). Available-
for-sale investment is now classified as equity investment at
fair value through other comprehensive income.

HKFRS 9 (2014) have been applied retrospectively and
resulted in changes in the consolidated amounts reported in
the consolidated financial statements as follows:

2.

BRANFTR] RASIERT B R M B
HER (&)

A=A

BERUBRELEREIR(2014F)[ £
BTA]

REEDREFEMNB BT IBERMEER
F99(20144F) - AJHHERER 5
HEARAREFAEM AU
RIEE o

A

EBH IR EREO (2014%) B
B - BRI AR BRED 2
HsA S EE TS

31 March 1 April
2016 2015
2016 20154
3HA31H 4H1H
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Decrease in available-for-sale AMEHERE R
investment (4,267,000) -
Increase in equity investment at fair ~ IRAR B AEMEEKE
value through other comprehensive HY P& 2N 57 & 32 A0
income 4,267,000 -

The Group has not applied other new and revised HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet effective. The Group
has already commenced an assessment of the impact of
these new and revised HKFRSs but is not yet in a position to
state whether these new and revised HKFRSs would have a
material impact on its results of operations and financial
position.

ZRER B B BR A B4 B IR B R R A&
MHF ] REERT BB HRESE
A - REBEC AR ARSI RE
BRI BB HRELRNEE - BN
REMELTNR] REERTRAMH
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA,
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, , as modified by the
revaluation of investment property which is carried at its fair
value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key
assumptions and estimates. It also requires the directors to
exercise its judgements in the process of applying the
accounting policies. The areas involving critical judgements
and areas where assumptions and estimates are significant
to these consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in
note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(@) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to 31 March. Subsidiaries are
entities over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. The Group has power over an
entity when the Group has existing rights that give it
the current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e.
activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2017 #Z 201743 431 HiF4/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(@

Consolidation (continued)

When assessing control, the Group considers its
potential voting rights as well as potential voting rights
held by other parties, to determine whether it has
control. A potential voting right is considered only if the
holder has the practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that
results in a loss of control represents the difference
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the
sale plus the fair value of any investment retained in
that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s share of the net
assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill
relating to that subsidiary and any related accumulated
foreign currency translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised
profits are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of
an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b)

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the
acquisition of a subsidiary in a business combination.
The cost of acquisition is measured at the acquisition-
date fair value of the assets given, equity instruments
issued, liabilities incurred and contingent consideration.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in
the periods in which the costs are incurred and the
services are received. ldentifiable assets and liabilities of
the subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at their
acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the
Company’s share of the net fair value of the
subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities is
recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the Company’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase which is attributed to the Company.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that it might be impaired. Goodwill is
measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
The method of measuring impairment losses of
goodwill is the same as that of other assets as stated in
the accounting policy below. Impairment losses of
goodwill are recognised in consolidated profit or loss
and are not subsequently reversed. Goodwill is
allocated to cash-generating units that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the acquisition for the
purpose of impairment testing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are
initially measured at the non-controlling shareholders’
proportionate share of the net fair value of the
subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities at the
acquisition date.

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2017 #Z 201743 431 HiF4/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(c) Foreign currency translation

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong Dollars, which is the
Company’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated
into the functional currency on initial recognition
using the exchange rates prevailing on the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
in foreign currencies are translated at the
exchange rates at the end of each reporting
period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different
from the Company’s presentation currency are
translated into the Company’s presentation
currency as follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position;
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(c)

(d)

Foreign currency translation (continued)

(iii) Translation on consolidation (continued)

Income and expenses are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the exchange
rates on the transaction dates); and

All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in the foreign currency
translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of the net investment in foreign entities
and of borrowings are recognised in the foreign
currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation
is sold, such exchange differences are recognised in
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on
disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
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e P BmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2017 #Z 201743 431 HiF4/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised in profit or loss during the period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost less
their residual values over the estimated useful lives on
a straight-line basis. The estimated useful lives are as
follows:

Leasehold land and building Over the lease term

Leasehold improvement 20%
Furniture and fixture 10%
Motor vehicles 30%
Office equipment 25%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation
method are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at
the end of each reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(e)

(f)

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings held to
earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. An
investment property is measured initially at its cost
including all direct costs attributable to the property.

After initial recognition, the investment property is
stated at its fair value based on valuation by an external
independent valuer. Gains or losses arising from
changes in fair value of the investment property are
recognised in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.

The gain or loss on disposal of an investment property
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the property, and is recognised
in profit or loss.

Leases
The Group as leasee
(i)  Operating leases

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the
Group all the risks and rewards of ownership of
assets are accounted for as operating leases.
Lease payments (net of any incentives received
from the lessor) are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
BRBEYEER (ZR)ERAH

3. EXEFHEEA)

(e)

(f)

REM=

REMERFERDES R, X
BEAREEN TN HETF - ]
¥/ ESIEZ RN CIRCEYES
FRIEFTBEERKRA)TE -

MERRE - FAWEIBHINE
B N (B D2 (85
B REWEAR BRBHEL
M 5 518 2 P 2 A BRI A
B -

HEREYFE K kB REH
ERM{HRIRFREYEREELZ
FHZR  FHESBENBRPE

<7
o

HE
EEEERERBA
(i) HZHE

NESISE=V-37 Xop: £ V=1
R N EHmER s AL
MEJIRFTARKEEHE -
MEMRNERE BE A
B0 (E o] 228 ) 74 T & R
WEAREER /R o



Ny

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 #Z 201743 431 HiF4/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

() Leases (continued)

The Group as leasee (continued)

(ii)

Finance leases

Leases that substantially transfer to the Group all
the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are
accounted for as finance leases. At the
commencement of the lease term, a finance
lease is capitalised at the lower of the fair value of
the leased asset and the present value of the
minimum lease payments, each determined at
the inception of the lease.

The corresponding liability to the lessor is
included in the statement of financial position as
finance lease payable. Lease payments are
apportioned between the finance charge and the
reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance
charge is allocated to each period during the
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability.

Assets under finance leases are depreciated the
same as owned assets.

The Group as lessor

()

Operating leases

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the
lessees all the risks and rewards of ownership of
assets are accounted for as operating leases.
Rental income from operating leases is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the term
of the relevant lease.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(9)

(h)

Intangible assets
Customer contracts

Customer contracts with finite useful lives that are
acquired through business combination are carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of b
years. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Computer software

Computer software are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is
calculated on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives of 4 years.

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
in the statement of financial position when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the assets; or the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the assets but has not retained
control on the assets. On derecognition of a financial
asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and
the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised
in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit
or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(h)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid is recognised
in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a
trade date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset
is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the
asset within the timeframe established by the market
concerned, and are initially recognised at fair value,
plus directly attributable transaction costs except in the
case of investments at fair value through profit or loss.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of investments at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the
following categories:

— Financial assets at amortised cost;
— Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income; and

— Investments at fair value through profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(i

Financial assets (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets (including trade and other
receivables) are classified under this category if
they satisfy both of the following conditions:

— the assets are held within a business model
whose objective is to hold assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows:; and

— the contractual terms of the assets give rise
on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method less loss
allowance for expected credit losses.

Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

On initial recognition, the Group can make an
irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-
instrument basis) to designate investments in
equity instruments that are not held for trading as
at fair value through other comprehensive
income.

Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income are subsequently
measured at fair value with gains and losses
arising from changes in fair values recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the equity investment revaluation reserve. On
derecognition of an investment, the cumulative
gains or losses previously accumulated in the
equity investment revaluation reserve are not
reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2017 #Z 201743 431 HiF4/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(i

0)

Financial assets (continued)

(i)  Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income (continued)

Dividends on these investments are recognised in
profit or loss, unless the dividends clearly
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment.

(iii) Investments at fair value through profit or
loss

Financial assets are classified under this category
if they do not meet the conditions to be measured
at amortised cost and the conditions of debt
investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income unless the Group
designates an equity investment that is not held
for trading as at fair value through other
comprehensive income on initial recognition.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently measured at fair value with any
gains or losses arising from changes in fair values
recognised in profit or loss. Interest income and
dividend income are recognised in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments
which are readily convertible into known amounts of
cash and subject to an insignificant risk of change in
value. Bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are also included as a component of
cash and cash equivalents.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(k)

()

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are
classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument under
HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group
after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and
equity instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after
the reporting period.

(m) Trade and other payables

(n)

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2017 #% 201743431 HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(0)

(P)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable and is recognised
when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow
to the Group and the amount of revenue can be
measured reliably.

(i)

(i)

Revenue from property management services are
recognised when services are rendered in
accordance with the terms of the agreements.
Revenue from the provision of other supporting
services for the management of the property is
recognised when the services are rendered.

Interest income is recognised on a time-
proportion basis using the effective interest
method.

Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as
a result of services rendered by employees up to
the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the
Group and employees are calculated as a
percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The
retirement benefit scheme cost charged to profit
or loss represents contributions payable by the
Group to the funds.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(P)

Employee benefits (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier
of the dates when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and when the
Group recognises restructuring costs and involves
the payment of termination benefits.

Bonus plan

The expected bonus payments are recognised as
a liability when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of services
rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of
the obligation can be made. Liabilities for bonus
plans are expected to be settled within 12 months
and are measured at the amounts expected to be
paid when they are settled.

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based
payments to certain directors and employees.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors
and employees are measured at the fair value
(excluding the effect of non market-based vesting
conditions) of the equity instruments at the date
of grant. The fair value determined at the grant
date of the equity-settled share-based payments
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of
shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for
the effect of non market-based vesting
conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2017 #Z 201743 431 HiF4/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(a)

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in
profit or loss because it excludes items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases
used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses or unused
tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(a)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised
in profit or loss, except when it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and is
held within a business model of the Group whose
business objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through sale. If the
presumption is rebutted, deferred tax for such
investment properties are measured based on the
expected manner as to how the properties will be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and
the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P BmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2017 #% 201743431 HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(N Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to
the Group.

(a)

A person or a close member of that person’s
family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Company or of a parent of
the Company.

An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity)
if any of the following conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Company are members
of the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

U]

(s)

Related parties (continued)

(b) (continued)

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group. If
the Group is itself such a plan, the
sponsoring employers are also related to the
Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled

by a person identified in (a).
(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Company or to a

parent of the Company.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purpose of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of the Group’s
various lines of business in different geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of productions processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of
the regulatory environment. Operating segments which
are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2017 #Z 201743 431 HiF4/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(t)

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible
assets except goodwill, investment property, deferred
tax assets and receivables to determine whether there
is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of any impairment loss. Where
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of
an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-
generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-
generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is
treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation)
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment
loss is treated as a revaluation increase.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(u)

(v)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of
one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is
remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of
the reporting period or those that indicate the going
concern assumption is not appropriate are adjusting
events and are reflected in the financial statements.
Events after the reporting period that are not adjusting
events are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements when material.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2017 #Z 201743 431 HiF4/E

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

@

(b)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
directors have made the following judgements that
have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Deferred tax for investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the directors have reviewed the Group’s
investment property portfolios and concluded that the
Group’s investment properties are not held under a
business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment properties over time, rather than
through sale. Therefore, in determining the Group’s
deferred tax for investment properties, the directors
have adopted the presumption that investment
properties measured using the fair value model are
recovered through sale.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
discussed below.

(i)  Fair values of investment property

The Group appointed an independent
professional valuer to assess the fair value of the
investment property. In determining the fair
value, the valuer has utilised a method of
valuation which involves certain estimates. The
directors have exercised their judgement and are
satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective
of the current market conditions.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

The Group determines the estimated useful lives,
residual values and related depreciation charges
for the Group’s property, plant and equipment.
This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives and residual
values of property, plant and equipment of similar
nature and functions. The Group will revise the
depreciation charge where useful lives and
residual values are different to those previously
estimated, or it will write-off or write-down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that
have been abandoned or sold.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
of the assets exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is determined with reference
to the present value of estimated future cash
flows. Where the future cash flows are less than
expected or there are unfavourable events and
change in facts and circumstance which result in
revision of future estimate cash flows, a material
impairment loss may arise.

Recoverability of intangible assets

During the year, the Group reconsidered the
recoverability of its intangible assets arising from
the Group’s development, which is included in its
consolidated statement of financial position at 31
March 2017 at HK$7,886,735. Detailed
sensitivity analysis has been carried out and the
Group is confident that the carrying amount of
the assets will be recovered in full, even if returns
are reduced. This situation will be closely
monitored, and adjustments made in future
periods, if future market activity indicates that
such adjustments are appropriate.

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2017 #Z 201743 431 HiF4/E

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
(v) Impairment of trade and other receivables

The directors periodically review the Group’s
receivables to assess whether impairment exists.
In determining whether impairment should be
provided, the directors evaluated individually
each account for impairment after taking into
account the value of each account’s underlying
collateral and the latest financial position of those
clients in default of settlement.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

During the reporting period, the capital structure of the
Group consist of debt which includes interest-bearing loans
and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves. The Directors
review the capital structure on a regular basis. As part of this
review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and the
associated risks, and take appropriate actions to adjust the
Group’s capital structure. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior periods.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest
rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance.

(@

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has certain exposure to foreign currency
risk as the Group’s deposits placed for life insurance
policies are denominated in United States dollar
(“US$").

The Group considers the risk exposure to foreign
currency fluctuation is limited as long as the HK$
remains pegged to the US$. This analysis is performed
on the same basis for 2016.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s finance lease payables bear interests at
fixed interest rates and therefore are subject to fair
value interest rate risks.

The Group’s exposure to interest-rate risk arises from
its pledged bank deposits and bank borrowings. These
deposits and borrowings bear interests at variable rates
varied with the then prevailing market condition.

The Group does not consider that it has any significant
exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates
from its bank deposits and bank borrowings as a
reasonably possible change of b0 basis points in the
interest rates would have no material impact on the
Group’s consolidated profit or loss for the years ended
31 March 2017 and 2016.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2017 #Z 201743 431 HiF4/E

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(©)

Credit risk

The carrying amount of the cash and bank balances,
pledged bank deposits and trade and other receivables
included in the consolidated statement of financial
position represents the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk in relation to the Group’s financial assets.

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit
risk. It has policies in place to ensure that sales are
made to customers with an appropriate credit history.

The Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that
all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are
subject to director’s approval. Receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis to ensure that the
Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had a
certain concentration of credit risk as 15.8% (2016:
32.2%) of the total trade receivables was due from the
Group’s five largest customers. Details of the credit
quality of the trade receivables that are neither past
due nor impaired were set out in note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The credit risk on cash and bank balances and
pledged bank deposits is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

6. MBEMREE(E)
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

6. MBEMREE(E)

(d) Liquidity risk (d) REEESEE
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and ANEERE ATHESEB I NTE
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it HRO R ESEK - LAERES
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its BRWIESHE  UEMNRSEH
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. HENESENK o
The maturity profile of the Company’s financial RIREEIR - A AT SR AEIR
liabilities as at the end of reporting period, based on B % AR BRI A Z A0 B 2R o AT 0
the contracted undiscounted payments, was as follows: T
2017 2017 &
More than Total
1 year hut contractual
Less than lessthan  undiscounted Carrying
On demand 1 year 5 years cash flow amounts
BRIE  SHNARR
REX SRE  BORSE HEREHE REE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
B BT B B B
Trade and other payables AR HMENTE - 64,006,351 - 64,006,351 64,006,351
Finance lease payables EAmERERE - 226,611 84,695 311,306 303,151
Promissory notes payable ERRIZE - - 14,000,000 14,000,000 12,157,882
Bank horrowings — secured BTER—aER 9,370,264 - - 9,370,264 9,370,264
9,370,264 64,232,962 14,084,695 87,687,921 85,837,648
2016 20164
More than Total
1 year but contractual
Less than less than  undiscounted Carrying
On demand 1 year 5 years cash flow amounts
| BEIE  AWAEE
BREX PRIE EPRSE HenEsE REME
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
B B BT B BT
Trade and other payables B o REMEMZIE - 46,101,883 - 46101883 46,101,383
Finance lease payables ENRERERE - 306,936 311,306 618,242 592,193
Bank borrowings — secured ROER—HER 8,582,388 - - 8,582,883 8,582,888
8,582,888  46,408819 311306 55,303,013 55276964

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
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e P BmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2017 #Z 201743 431 HiF4/E

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. BfixEEIE (&)
(e) Categories of financial instruments (e) ERIEAER
At 31 December
M3A31H
2017 2016
2017 F 2016 4F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Financial assets: SREE -
Equity investment at fair value BAREFAREMEE Y
through other comprehensive SO
income - 4. 267,000
Loans and receivables (including ,TA&JEH&/T)\IE( BIERE K
cash and cash equivalents) BeEEY) :
— Deposits placed for life — BASRBRIREFTA
insurance policies iz 4 8,169,842 7,955,915
— Trade and other receivables — B S RHEMEWFIA 60,836,884 52,864,288
— Pledged bank deposits — B EMRITER 7,105,972 7,595,971
— Cash and cash equivalents — B NIRSEEBY 45,164,990 64,772,631
121,277,688 137,455,805
Financial liabilities: SEAaE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost  1&Z# 5k AEHEN SR A E -
— Trade and other payables — B o5 REHMENKIA 64,006,351 46,101,883
— Promissory notes payable — EREREE 12,157,882 -
— Bank borrowings — secured —iRITEE-FEE 9,370,264 8,582,888
85,534,497 54,684,771
(f)  Fair value n 2~RE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets FEVBURAMREAEE SR
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated EEFSRABENERERES
statement of financial position approximate their BEAENRES °

respective fair values.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

() Fair value (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The following disclosures of fair
value measurements use a fair value hierarchy that
categorises into three levels the inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets
or liabilities that the Group can
access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices
included within level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of
the event or change in circumstances that caused the
transfer.

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P BmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2017 #% 201743431 HIFF/E

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. BiiEREEIE (&)
(f)  Fair value (continued) n 2AEGE)
(i)  Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at () HR2017F3F31HH AR
31 March 2017: EERIEE :
Fair value
measurements using: Total
FERATIARETE: st
Level 2 Level 3 2017
ER B=4 2017 5%
HK$ HK$ HK$
Description: Hat BT BT BT
Recurring fair value REMARETE:
measurements:
Equity investment at fair BEARBRAEMEE
value through other W IR AR E
comprehensive income
— Private equity investment ~ — FAERRAERE - - -
Investment property LB Y
Commercial — Hong Kong BE—FE 28,817,301 - 28,817,301
Total recurring fair value KEMANEFEEE
measurements 28,817,301 - 28,817,301
Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at R2016 F3A3IHBI A EE
31 March 2016: R E
Fair value
measurements using: Total
FEATIAAEGE : 4BEtT
Level 2 Level 3 2016
EM B4 2016 F
HK$ HK$ HK$
Description: fEa BT BT BT
Recurring fair value REMQNABETE
measurements:
Equity investment at fair BAREGARMEE
value through other Uz P AR &
comprehensive income
— Private equity investment  — FLERIERE - 4,267,000 4,267,000
Total recurring fair value KEHEANAETELE

measurements -

4,267,000 4,267,000

During the year, there was no asset transferred
from level 3 to other two levels of fair value
hierarchy.

FRN - WEEERFE=
BEBIMEAALERBE -

R
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. Bfi#&EMBEIRE (&)

() Fair value (continued) )

(i)  Reconciliation of assets measured at fair
value based on level 3:

nRE (&)
(i) URE=ZRAIASLETBZEE
-
Equity investment at

fair value through other
comprehensive income

BRAABEFAHMEE

WS BRARE
2017 2016
2017 F 2016 4F
HK$ HK$
Description i BT BT
At 1 April R4A1H 4,267,000 -
Addition during the year FARE - 13,000,000

Total gains/(losses) recognised in A E {th 2 E UKz 2

other comprehensive income Wz (E18) %8 (4,267,000)  (8,733,000)
At 31 March W3 A31H - 4,267,000

The total gains or losses recognised in other
comprehensive income are presented in loss on
equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 #% 201743431 HIFF/E

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Fair value (continued)

(iii) Disclosure of valuation process used by the

Group and valuation techniques and inputs
used in fair value measurements at
31 March:

The Group’s financial controller is responsible for
the fair value measurements of assets and
liabilities required for financial reporting purposes,
including level 3 fair value measurements. The
financial controller reports directly to the Board of
Directors for these fair value measurements.
Discussions of valuation processes and results
are held between the financial controller and the
Board of Directors at least four times a year.

The Group will normally engage external valuation
experts with the recognised professional

6.

MR EREE (&)

A RE (E)

(i) FEBFRAEERFRAGE

BMUR A SEERA
BABBERIANAEZH

=

2=

AEESHEE AR ETH
BHBABREERREBEAR
BFf & EFEEFE=HA
REE - UBEEEER
EXEgERZFANER
E -UMHBREREZTEEF
A ERRF MERETED
PR & o

AEBE-—RZEARATEE
éT%&LHH%«%ﬁE‘J MR (E

qualifications and recent experience to perform SEITIHE °
the valuations.
Level 2 fair value measurements RAAEGE
Fair value Fair value
DRE AN
2017 2016
2017 F 2016 F
Description Valuation technique Inputs HK$ HK$
RS fRERM wWARE BT BT
Commercial investment Market comparable  Price per
property — Hong Kong approach square metre
BERENE —FE AELERmSE BT KER 28,817,301 -
Level 3 fair value measurements FE=RAAEFZE
Fair value Fair value
MRfE RAfE
2017 2016

20175 20165

Effect on fair

Valuation Unobservable value for increase
Description technique inputs Range of inputs HK$ HK$
- FUBR ﬁA%EWM% ) o
ik fHER BAYE #E MENYE BT B
anateequﬂymvestment Asset approach  Discount rate Decrease
LERERE BET for cash flow R
Heng
B X 14.1% - 4267000
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REVENUE 7. WH
The Group is principally engaged in the provision of property REBRFANTENFREDEETIE
management services during the year. An analysis of the RS - FNAEEN D ERYZE DT
Group’s revenue recognised during the years is as follows: N
2017 2016
2017 & 2016 4
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Provision of property management R E B IRTS
services 395,513,512 374,024,102
OTHER REVENUE 8. Hfttlhz
2017 2016
2017 F 2016 4F
HK$ HK$
BT BIT
Bank interest income RITHBHA 8,969 4,227
Interest income from deposits placed HASREBREFTANES
for life insurance policies R E U A 294,341 284,504
Gain on disposal of property, HEME - BEREEN R
plant and equipment 5,000 -
Consultancy income U A 30,000 -
Gain on waiver of amount due to former  EA%R FE T B S 4535 I& A 7]
ultimate holding company BRI - 1,205,065

338,310 1,493,796

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2017 #Z 201743 431 HiF4/E

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION

(@)

Reportable segments

The Group has two (2016: one) reportable segments.
The Group’s reportable segments are strategic
business units that offer different products and
services. They are managed separately because each
business requires different technology and marketing
strategies. The following summary describes the
operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments:

(i)  Provision of property management services
(ii)  Properties investment

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as those described in note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements. Segment profits or
losses do not include dividend income and gains or
losses from investments. Segment assets do not
include investments. Segment non-current assets do
not include financial instruments and deferred tax
assets.

The Group accounts for intersegment sales and
transfers as if the sales or transfers were to third
parties, i.e. at current market prices.

9. ZHWEH
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 9.

(@) Reportable segments (continued)

(i)  Business segments

7 ERE# ()
(@ WEFHD(HE)
(i) RB‘EZE

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HZE2017F3A31HLEFE
Provision of

property
management Properties
services investment Total
RHymE
EERH MERE st
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Reportable segment revenue: A28/ HUE
Revenue from external customers R B 4NAE R P RIS 395,513,512 - 395,513,512
Reportable segment profit/(loss) A2/ EEF,(EE) 21,299,712 - 21,299,712
Depreciation of property, WE - BELRIETE
plant and equipment 1,156,573 - 1,156,573
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESH 717,512 - 717,512
Income tax expense FTiSEif X 3,320,101 - 3,320,101
Interest revenue M EUWES 303,310 - 303,310
Interest expense FERAY 195,847 - 195,847
Additions to property, RNEME  BERSE

plant and equipment

806,686 9,512,507 10,319,193

At 31 March 2017
R2017F3A31H

Provision of
property
management Properties
services investment Total
RUEME
EERK% MERE mst
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT

Reportable segment assets MERNHEE
Reportable segment liabilities AZH/NPBEE

1 2 6Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
BRBEYEER (ZR)ERAH
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 #Z 201743 431 HiF4/E

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 9. oH{ER(EF)
Reportable segments (continued) (@) TEFHDI(E)
Business segments (continued) () XEBHZB(E)
For the year ended 31 March 2016
HBZE2016F3A318ILFE
Provision of
property
management Properties
Services investment Total
REME ) \
B R MERE et
HK$ HK$ HK$
AT BT BT
Reportable segment revenue: A28/ HUE
Revenue from external customers R B 4NAE R P RIS 374,024,102 - 374,024,102
Reportable segment profit 2R/ DR 19,576,595 - 19,576,595
Depreciation of property, WE - BELRIETE
plant and equipment 1,445,965 - 1,445,965
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESH - - -
Income tax expense FTiSEif X 3,140,684 - 3,140,684
Interest revenue AMEUWES 288,731 - 288,731
Interest expense FERAY 991,742 - 991,742
Additions to property, RNEME  BENSE
plant and equipment 874,164 - 874,164
At 31 March 2016
R2016F3 A31H
Provision of
property
management Properties
services investment Total
Rt
B PR MERE st
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Reportable segment assets AERHIBEE 110,327,273 - 110,327,273
Reportable segment liabilities AERHBEaE 55,247,173 - 55247173
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(@)

Reportable segments (continued)

(i) Reconciliations of reportable segment
revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities:

9. ZEEHR(E)

(@)

W 2H 55 (&)

(i) W27 ER K - BRI

iR BERBENHE

2017 2016
2017 % 20164
HK$ HK$
Year ended 31 March BZ3A31HILEE BT m
Revenue Wz
Reportable segment revenue and 7] 2 #5285 &
consolidated revenue el 395,513,512 374,024,102
Profit or loss R K 2% 5 18
Reportable segment profits A 23R 2% F 21,299,712 19,576,595
Inter-segment profits 7 EB R A 409,375 -
Unallocated other income R ERE MK A - 1,205,065
Unallocated corporate expenses kOB EF X (8,200,800) (14,186,108)
Unallocated finance costs ROERE A (8) (640,000)
Consolidated profit before tax BB AT 4R & n R 13,508,279 5,955,552

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited

BRBEYEEE (ZR)ERQF
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 9.

(@)

(b)

()

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2017 #Z 201743 431 HiF4/E

Reportable segments (continued)

(@)

(i) Reconciliations of reportable segment
revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities:

2 EBE R (&)

W 2H 55 (&)

(i) W27 ER K - BRI
B BEREBENH K -

(continued) (#&)
2017 2016
2017 & 2016 4F
HK$ HK$
At 31 March M3A31H BT BT
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets A 2D BEE 143,310,986 110,327,273
Unallocated cash and AOMREFIREEEDY
cash equivalents 13,033,990 26,939,470
Other unallocated corporate assets Hfthix D E % EE 47,050,328 7,603,786
Consolidated total assets e BERE 203,395,304 144,870,529
Liabilities =L
Reportable segment liabilities A EFHoIaE 85,741,412 55,247,173
Unallocated corporate liabilities Kol EaE 1,383,603 1,281,560
Consolidated total liabilities e BaERsE 87,125,015 56,528,733

(b)

Geographical information

During the two years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016,
all revenue is derived from customers in Hong Kong
and the Group’s non-current assets as at 31 March
2017 and 2016 are all located in Hong Kong.

(c)

Information about major customers

An analysis of the Group’s revenue from major services
is set out in note 7 above. No customer accounted for
10 percent or more of the total revenue for the years
ended 31 March 2017 and 2016.

i EE R

B 22017 F Kk2016F3 A31H
IERESE - rEREHKAE
BEF - MR 2017 F k2016 F
3A31H  AEEMFRBDEE
BURES

FREIEEFHNESR

REEREFERBHBZEHSD
MrE i £ XXBisE7 - EE 2017 6
N20163A31B -5 E - #
RS 10% A E o
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 &% 20174331

HIFFE

10. FINANCE COSTS 10. @E KA
2017 2016
2017 F 2016 4F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Interest expenses on: T3S EAHERXE
— Bank borrowings — RITEE 177,962 328,872
— Imputed interest on convertible — AR BEAHETE A E
notes - 640,000
Finance lease charges BEREER 17,893 22,870
195,855 991,742
11. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO  11. XA T#E AEBEERER
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
The Group’s profit for the year is arrived at after charging: REBFRHEMNIIEHBRTYIER -
2017 2016
2017 F 2016 4F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Staff costs (including directors’ BTITRA(BIEEEEN) :
remuneration):
— Salaries, wages and allowances — Fe  LTERZER 329,102,653 332,337,435
— Equity-settled share-based payments — ¥R #EAE & AR (9 S (5T B9
HIE - 919,600
— Retirement benefits scheme — RIEFIET IR
contributions 9,487,160 9,391,812
338,589,813 342,648,847
Auditors’ remuneration 1% EXRT B <& 540,000 550,000
Depreciation of property, W - BENMKREBITE
plant and equipment 1,163,297 1,445,965
Amortisation of intangible assets | EESE 717,512 -
Operating lease charges in respect of TYEENEEHERSE
— Premises — % 3,413,400 3,147,400
— Motor vehicles — "8 568,000 -
Equity-settled consultancy fees EREAEENEMER - 2,207,040

Kong Shum Union Property Management

BRBEYEEE (ZR)ERQF

(Holding) Limited
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P BmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2017 # % 201743431 HIFF/E

12. EERANRESHA L EHMH

INDIVIDUAL EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments () ESKEREEASHMH
For the year ended 31 March 2017 BZE2017TF3R31ALFE
Salaries, Contributions
allowances and Share-hased to retirement
Fees  other henefits payments scheme Total
428 WA
ne REAER TANEE  BIGHEMR At
Notes HKS HKS$ HKS HKS HK$
(i BT BT BT B BT
Executive directors: #i7Es.
Yan Chi Ming (i) 515 196,774 - - - 196,774
Ho Ying Choi MR - 3,903,318 - 18,000 3,921,318
Wu Yilin (ii) R - 281,667 - 9,000 290,667
Lee Chin Ching, Cyrix (i) 3RE - 152,419 - 5,371 157,790
Eric Todd (Chairman) (iv) BRE(IR) - 400,000 - 14,750 414,750
Huang He ) BB - 94,087 - 4,121 98,208
Non-executive director: FY7EE.
Waong Kui Shing, Danny (vi) TER 95,484 - - - 95,484
Independent non-executive director: BUHTES:
Tso Si Lun, Alan E¥h 120,000 - - - 120,000
Lam Kai Yeung Wi 120,000 - - - 120,000
Lo Chi Ho, Richard BEE 120,000 - - - 120,000
652,258 4,831,491 - 51,242 5,934,991
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUAL EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments

(continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2016

12.EERANESH AT HM
(&)

(GY)

EERSREEASHM (E)

HZE2016F3A31HILFE

Salaries, Contributions
allowances and Share-based fo retirement
Fees  other benefits payments scheme Total
] WR(
e REMEN  XNHORE  RGHEIRR it
Notes HK$ HK$ HKS HK$ HKS
fit iy BT BT BT BT
Executive directors: #H1E%:
Yan Chi Ming 576 174194 - - - 174,19
Ho Ying Chol i - 4294829 - 18,000 4312829
Wu Yiin R 135,484 - - - 135,484
Liu Dan Liu Dan - 1,003,333 - - 1,003,333
Shen Ka Yip, Timothy NEE - 1451613 459,800 15,000 192,413
Lai Sze Yau, Vivien REW - 774,194 459,800 15,000 1,248 994
Non-executive directors: FHES:
Wong Kui Shing, Danny TEH 54,194 - - - 54,19
Shum Lok To %% 101,032 - - - 101,032
Independent non-executive directors: BUES:
Ts0 Siu Lun, Alan EZip 120,000 - - - 120,000
Lam Kai Yeung it 54,193 - - - 54,193
Chow Siu Lui Pz 65,806 - - - 65,806
Lo Chi Ho, Richard BTR 34839 - - - 34,839
Bai Jin Rong AgR 112,258 - - - 11228
852,000 7,573,969 919,600 48000 9,393,569
Notes: Btet -

(i) Resigned on 29 July 2016

(i) Resigned on 19 September 2016

(i) Appointed on 20 December 2016

(iv)  Appointed as chairman of the board and executive director on

1 August 2016

(v)  Appointed on 13 October 2016 and resigned on 20 December

2016

(vi)  Resigned on 18 January 2017

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
BRBEYEER (ZR)ERAH

()  M20164%7 A29 BEHE
(i) 7201649 A 19 HEHT
(i) M20164E12 A20 BEZEE

(v) M2016F8A1RABZERESE
IFEEHITESE

(v) R2016F10A13EEZEER
2016412 A 20 BEHE

(vi)  PA2017F 1 H 18 HEHE

[



Ny

12. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUAL EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b)

(c)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2017 #Z 201743 431 HiF4/E

Five highest paid individual emoluments

One (2016: three) of the five highest paid individuals of
the Group was the director whose emolument is set out
in the above. For the year ended 31 March 2017, the
remaining four (2016: two) employees’ emoluments of

the Group were as follows:

(&)
(b)

12.EERANESHE AL HM

TfumEEFHALEHH

AEENANESHFATEE—
Z((2016F: =&)&E% - A%
B IS SR E X - BLE 2017 3
A31BIEFE » % T4 (2016
F WA AEEEENFHH W

o
2017 2016
2017 F 20164
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Basic salaries and allowances HE AR E e MoERL 5,325,371 3,994,389
Discretionary bonus B IETEAT 873,428 1,227,293
Retirement benefit scheme IRREFIET B

contributions 54,000 34,500
6,252,799 5,256,182

The emoluments fell within the following bands: AT T 5 & E -

Number of individuals

Emolument band:
Nil-HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001-HK$1,500,000
HK$3,500,001-HK$4,000,000
HK$4,000,001-HK$4,500,000

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to any of the directors or the highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office. In
addition, none of the directors waived any emoluments

FrENEE

£ % 1,000,0007%8 7T

1,000,001 7 7T & 1,500,000 % 7T
3,500,001 7% 7T % 4,000,000 7% 7T
4,000,001 77T % 4,500,000 78 7T

(c)

during the reporting period (2016: Nil).

A
2017 2016
2017 5 20164
2 _
1 1
1 _
- 1
4 2

FR- AEERERERESSL
R AL FE - FSE
BN SR B S N BB 1R A 2R < SR B BB
e - o BEEENRE
BT BN (2016 4F © ) o
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 # %2017 43 H31 HIFF/Z

13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% (2016: 16.5%) based on the estimated assessable

13. FiEBIRAX

BEENEHEBRBF ARG ERTE
F$216.5% (2016 4F : 16.5%) & H #

profit for the year. {# o
2017 2016
2017 F 2016 4F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax BVERTRIE — BB RS
— Provision for the year — FREE 3,691,480 3,447,352
— Over-provision in prior years — BEFEBERE (80,000) (56,381)
3,611,480 3,390,971
Deferred tax (note 25) EIEFLIA (M 7E25) (291,379) (250,287)
3,320,101 3,140,684

The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the

product of profit before tax multiplied by the Hong Kong TR R EE T -

Profits Tax rate is as follows:

P HE B S B ER B At R SR BB FIF

2017 2016

2017 & 20164

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Profit before tax i B0 AT AR A 13,508,279 5,955,552
Tax calculated at the domestic tax BARHF K 16.5% (2016 F -

rate of 16.5% (2016: 16.5%) 16.5%) st EMFE1E 2,228,866 982,666

Tax effect of income that is not taxable ~ H7ERFUA BRI FE 22 (122,764) (47,641)

Tax effect of expenses that are not AR A S R B2

deductible 1,293,999 2,262,040

Over-provision in prior years BT FE RS (80,000) (56,381)

Income tax expense FTig iz 3,320,101 3,140,684

1 34Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited

BRBEYEEE (ZR)ERQF

[



Ny

14.

15.

16.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2017 #Z 201743 431 HiF4/E

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share attributable to
owners of the Company is based on the profit for the year
attributable to owners of the Company of HK$10,188,178
(2016: HK$2,814,868) and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares of 551,296,720 (2016: 446,719,656) in
issue during the year.

Diluted earnings per share

The effect of the Company’s outstanding share options for
the year ended 31 March 2017 did not give rise to any
dilution effect to the earnings per share.

As the exercise of the Group’s outstanding convertible bonds
for the year ended 31 March 2016 would be anti-dilutive
and there was no dilutive potential ordinary shares for the
Company’s outstanding share options, no diluted earnings
per share was presented for the year ended 31 March 2016.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed for the year ended 31
March 2017, nor has any dividend been proposed since the
end of the reporting period (2016: Nil).

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The Group’s contributions to the
MPF Scheme are calculated at 5% of the salaries and wages
subject to a monthly maximum amount of contribution of
HK$1,500 per employee and vest fully with employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

14.

15.

16.

BRER
BREFREF

RAREE ANEBEERERRR TR
RARHEE AEEFNRF10,188,178
BT (2016 4F : 2,814,868/ 7T) M ER
B 21T M AR INAE T 1981 551,296,720
IZ (2016 4F : 446,719,656 %) 5T & -

BREERR

HE2017F3A31BILFE  AQT]
MEATEERENZETESEK
BREATAEETE -

HREE2016F3A31H IEFE1T
FEAREBEMHREERRESE RS
SEIER R A B8 1M AR 1T B AR i
mATHRELTBR BUEEINEE
20163 A3l HItFEMEREER
F o

85,

HE2017F3A3BILFEMHES
NEEZAAKE  BREHBLER
ARINME IR Z AL E (20165F « &) ©

EBIRERGE

REBERBEEBEHERTESFTEIK
BlaFAEENE ERIEB R L8 H
MAEEEI([BEBERETE]) - A&
e ES T EMERNRET &
IE5% 18 (BUEIBASZESE
£1,500870) - BRI Fiaik

SRR EEMA -

Annual Report 2016/17
2016/17 F 3]

135



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2017 # %2017 43 H31 HIFF/Z

136

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. ¥  BERRE
Land and Leasehold Furniture Office Motor
Buildings improvement  and fixture equipment vehicle Total
THREF BENELE HAREE BLZERE HE CH
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT B BT BT BT BT
COST AR
At 1 April 2015 R2015F4 10 - 3909557 1,701,254 2614112 2886368 11,111,291
Additions NE - 16,210 21,370 277034 559,550 874,164
At 31 March 2016 and R2016F3A31AR
1 April 2016 2016%F4A1H - 3925767 1722624 2891146 3445918 11985455
Additions B 9,512,507 138,350 109,237 604,854 - 10,364,948
Disposal il - - - - (181,724) (181,724)
At 31 March 2017 M2017E3A31H 9512507 4004117 183181 349,000 326419 22,168,679
ACCUMULATED R FERAE
DEPRECIATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2015 R2015%4 A1H - 2437479 467946 2065630 2115777 7,086,832
Provided during the year FREE - 420,052 155,382 283,981 586,550 1,445,965
At 31 March 2016 and R2016F3A31AR
1 April 2016 2016%F4A1H - 2857531 623328 2349611 2702327 8532797
Provided during the year FREHE - 339,483 163,367 328,748 331699 1,163,297
Disposal k3 - - - - (181724)  (181,724)
At 31 March 2017 M2017E3A31H - 3197014 786,695 2678359 2852302 9514370
CARRYING AMOUNT REE
At 31 March 2017 201743 A31H 9,512,507 867,103 1,045,166 817,641 411892 12,654,309
At 31 March 2016 2016463 A31H - 1008236 109929 541 535 743591 3,452,658

At 31 March 2017 the carrying amount of motor vehicle
held by the Group under finance leases amounted to
HK$411,892 (2016: HK$ 670,057).

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
BRBEYEER (ZR)ERAH

M2017E3A31 0 AEERERE
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P BmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2017 #Z 201743 431 HiF4/E

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTY 18. REWHE
2017 2016
2017 & 2016 4
HK$ HK$
BT BT
At 1 April R4H1H - -
Additions NE 28,817,301 -
At 31 March N3 A31H8 28,817,301 -

19.

Investment property was revalued at 31 March 2017 on the
open market value basis by reference to market evidence of
recent transactions for similar properties by Grant Sherman

BREMFERBYEXAEMPETE
BERARZSEZERUMENOHRIZ ™
SSREBR AR ERELENR2017F3 A

Appraisal Limited, an independent professional valuer. 31HER -
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 10. B EE
Customer Computer
contracts software Total
BEFEH B a%
HK$ HK$ HK$
ETT BT 7T
COST %N
At 1 April 2016 M20165F4 A1H - - -
Addition NE - 6,550,000 6,550,000
Acquired through business FHRERE OHIE
combination 2,054,247 - 2,054,247
At 31 March 2017 20173 A31 H 2,054,247 6,550,000 8,604,247
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION ZR:ti#iss K REEE
AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
At 1 April 2016 M20165F4 A1H - - -
Amortisation for the year and ~ £E N 45 %
at 31 March 2017 R2017%F3 H31H 308,137 409,375 717,512
CARRYING AMOUNT: BRMEIE :
At 31 March 2017 20173 A31 H 1,746,110 6,140,625 7,886,735

Annual Report 2016/17
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2017 &% 201743 H31 HiFF/E

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 9. MILEE (1)
The customer contracts are the property management EEANEMESIEBEERNTIEEE
business’s critical value driver. They represents the value of BN EAENLTHEANEFEE -
rights that arise from contractual arrangement. The average EEAEAN RIS EEER A4 F -
remaining amortisation period of the customer contracts is 4
years.
The computer software is an internal management system BB AANSBEERSE > BERA
which functions address book management for office usage, EABAENREIRE MEETEER
office communication and office bulletin for property B AEEALBAETAM - BIEE
management business. The average remaining amortisation R E s SR B4 F o

period of the computer software is 4 years.

1 38Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2017 #Z 201743 431 HiF4/E

20. SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s major subsidiaries are set out

20. M

ARFEZEWNBRRZFBEERTIWN

below: T :
Percentage of
Place of ownership interest
incorporation/ Issued and attributable to
Name registration paid-up capital the Company Principal activities
\ VN
R i B TEE A
28 B ERTREARE EZNEIM FEEE
Kong Shum Union Property British Virgin 11 shares of 100% direct Investment holding
Management Group Limited Islands US$1.00 each
(HKSGH)
BABAYEEEEE RERZES 11BEkEE 100% E# REER
BB AR (KSG]) 1.00E TR R
Kong Shum Union Property Hong Kong HK$22,000,000 100% indirect  Provision of property
Management Company Limited management services
(“KSU”)
5%557%?5’#6%%% BERAH N 22,000,000/ 7T 100% fE# REEER R
([BEREE])
K-King Cleaning Services Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% indirect  Provision of cleaning
(“K-King") N services
HYB2RBERAR(THY) & 100787T 100% A% REB R
Q&V Security Company Limited Hong Kong HK$2,100,000 100% indirect  Provision of security services
(HQ&V”)
BEREHARAR([EE]) BB 2,100,000/ 7T 100% f&# RERZ RS
Yorkshire Property Management Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 100% indirect  Provision of property
Limited (“YSL") management services
NrBEYFEEREERAF Bk 1,000,000 T 100% fE5 REMEERRY
(TysL))
More Rise Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$2.00 100% indirect  Properties investment
(“MR”_”)
RAREBRAF (MRILY) BB 2.0087T 100% fE5 MERE
Fortune Trend Investment Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$2.00 100% indirect  Properties investment
(“FT“_”)
FHERERRAR ([FTILY) B 2.00%7T 100% fE# MERE
Lucky Stone Investments Limited British Virgin 1 share of 100% direct Investment holding
(“LSI") Islands US$1.00 each
Lucky Stone Investments Limited ~ EBRZHE 1RESKREE 100% B REER
(TLsi) 1.00E TR
Lucky Stone Property Hong Kong HK$100 100% indirect  Dormant
Investment Limited
Lucky Stone Property oy 100787 100% % FmeEx
Investment Limited
Lucky Stone Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% indirect ~ Dormant
Lucky Stone Finance Limited N 10077 100% f@# Tmex
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21. GOODWILL 21. B8
2017 2016
2017 & 2016 F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
COST AR
Arising from business combination RFEKEHESE (Hi36)
(note 36) 784,704 -
Impairment loss recognised REZHERHREEE
in the current year - -
At 31 March M3 H31H 784,704 -
CARRYING AMOUNTS REE
At 31 March M3 A31H 784,704 -
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at EEAEHTEREeNNER IR
acquisition, to the cash-generating units (“CGUs”) that are FEEBE TSR ZEBREHNIREEL
expected to benefit from that business combination. The B ([REEELEN]) - HENERE
carrying amount of goodwill had been allocated as follows: EHBIT
Total
o
(===
2017 2016
2017 & 2016
HK$ HK$
BT m
Provision of property management EEEERS
services
Yorshire Property Management N EMEEERBAER AR
Limited (“YSL”) (rysLl) 784,704 -

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
BRBEYEER (ZR)ERAH
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2017 #Z 201743 431 HiF4/E

21. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill
Provision of property management services

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined on
the basis of their value in use using discounted cash flow
method. The key assumptions for the discounted cash flow
method are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates
and budgeted gross margin and revenue during the period.
The Group estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that
reflect current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates
are based on long-term average economic growth rate of the
geographical area in which the businesses of the CGUs
operate. Budgeted gross margin and revenue are based on
past practices and expectations on market development.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the
most recent financial budgets approved by the directors for
the next five years. The recoverable amount of the relevant
assets has been determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections based on the
financial budgets approved by the management covering a
5 year period. Key assumptions used by the management in
the value in use calculations of the cash-generating unit
include budgeted gross profit margin. The pre-tax discount
rate used for estimating the value in use is 19.97%.

The assumptions have been determined based on past
performance and management’s expectations in respect of
the property management market in the Hong Kong.

The management is not currently aware of any other
probable changes that would necessitate changes in its key
estimates.

1. BE (&)

B RER R
RBERYREERE

REeELEUMRKESETRAR
AR REAAFEEREBEETE -
MEBRSREZNEIBREREHA/
BE BER - AEENXRKWAR
o ARERAAIRBRBEATSEE
BEREEN TG RSELEMR
E R AT BILL R AL ETREIR R - 1F
REDNURECELBUREEXBAE
weH R TFIOEEERRSEE -
FBEEMERIWATI OB EE B &%
MIZERNTAHRESE -

AEERENRSRETRN HIRKE
HEFHENRERAFUHEESR
B -HEESENT RO BECREE
B ENTFHMBERERELRR
MRS REBAINEAEETEE
- EEERNASELABUEMRER
AERIERREBEAEEEMNE -
FRERAEREENRATRR RS
19.97% -

FEBRREREBERBALEEREY
REBYREENHNHAEMETE -

0 R A TR A (T T
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22.

23.

DEPOSITS PLACED FOR LIFE INSURANCE
POLICIES

22. RABRBREFANRE

2017 2016

2017 F 2016 4F

HK$ HK$

BT BIT

Deposits placed for life insurance policies it ASRBIREF AIZS 8,169,842 7,955,915

The Group can terminate the policy at any time and receive
cash refund based on the cash value of the policies at the
date of withdrawal, which is determined by the upfront
payment plus accumulated interest earned and minus the
expense charged at inception, the accumulated insurance
charge and policy expense charge.

DEPOSITS FOR ACQUISITION OF AN
ASSOCIATE

REB AR ERRRE IEZRE RIR
BRERRZREZReEERERS
R M THIRARTAN TR NPT BRER 2 R
AH LB R R R S AR BB IR 7R S AN 2 B
XER - RARERREERHAXM
BE -

23. WiE—EBE QRN

2017 2016
2017 & 2016 4F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Deposits for acquisition of equity TR — B E QR ENES
interest of an associate 28,350,000 -

On 13 February 2017, LSI, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into the sales and purchase agreement
with Mr. Chang Tin Duk, Victor (“Mr. Chang”) to purchase
30% of the equity interest of Dakin Holdings Inc. (“Dakin”),
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with
limited liability, at a total consideration of HK$31,500,000.
As at 31 March 2017, the Group had paid deposits in the
sum of HK$ 28,350,000 in cash. Upon completion, the
Group shall pay to Mr. Chang HK$ 3,150,000, being the
remaining balance of the consideration in cash. Further
details are set out in the Company’s announcements dated
20 January 2017 and 13 February 2017.

The transaction was completed on 28 April 2017. Upon
completion, the Group is holding 30% of the equity interest
of Dakin which has become an associate of the Group.

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
BRBEYEER (ZR)ERAH

R2017F2 A 138 » AR B2 EWE
ARLSIEF KB A ([REE]) R
37 B & 2 LAUEE Dakin Holdings Inc.
([Dakin])30% A% # - # K B &
31,500,000/ 7T ° Dakin & 1A & B &
ZEEEMKIZIHBR AR - )R2017
F3H31H AKBEUBRESINZES
28,350,000/ 7T - REMKE - AEE
BB ERAREESTNRESRE
3,150,000 7T © #E—HEFBEHNAR
A HEI 220171 A20H & 20174
2 13 BRI -

RSN 2017F 4 A28 HERK © 52X
1% - 7N 5 [E 3% A Dakin #930% A% 1 -
i1 Dakin X &2~ 5= [ A9 B & A &) o
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 #Z 201743 431 HiF4/E

24. EQUITY INVESTMENT AT FAIR VALUE 24, EARBEFAHMZEBKED
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE BERIKRE
INCOME
2017 2016
2017 & 2016
HK$ HK$
BT m
Unlisted equity investment, at fair value FE ETIIRAIRE @ B ARE 4,267,000 13,000,000
Change in fair value NI (4,267,000)  (8,733,000)
- 4,267,000
The unlisted equity investment as at 31 March 2016 and 31 7R20164F3 A31 H Kk201743 A31
March 2017 represents 10% equity interest in All Profit H  JELFMPIEAEEIEAREEETIEAN
Alliance Limited (“All Profit”) held by the Group, in Profit Alliance Limited ([ All Profit])
connection with business corporation by jointly (i) developing 10%MHE - BEEHERG()AZEREER
a mobile application, namely “Yes Master!”, aims to provide 25X » Bl [Yes Master!| - ‘§#E[A [ Yes
one-stop household support to the users of “Yes Master!” to Master! | B RRH — XA RE &
gain access to a number of value-added services NEBREZHESZARENEER
surrounding their households, in the areas of market place, B BERHMEMETS ALK -
social networking, resident bulletin and community services; EEREHETERASESESE XN
and (ii) setting up a two-way communication internet EATNETFIYERERIYES
platform among the property management companies, BAF - ¥EVREE - REGRES
incorporated owners, service providers and its users in any HERAPCREMNERBREEKFEEZ
building or property estates in Hong Kong. EBEE-
The fair value of investment in All Profit as at 31 March KRARZENBILGEMRETEE
2016 was calculated based on asset approach by Peak [RARIRE E AT E Al Profiti s &E
Vision Appraisals Limited, an independent valuer appointed 2016 F3 A31 BRI ARIE »
by the Company.
The fair value of investment in All Profit as at 31 March All Profiti 8 E 20173 A31HHA
2017 was calculated based on asset approach by the REBEITHESHERAEELTE - K&
directors. The carrying amount of the Group’s equity Bz A BT AEMEEWEORA
investment at fair value through other comprehensive KEMBREENATE -

income is denominated in HK$.
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25. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets
recognised by the Group.

25. EEBEBEBLEE AE

AT RAEEREIANTIZRIERAR

Fair value
adjustment
Accelerated Decelerated arising from
tax tax  Provisions business
depreciation depreciation (note) combination Total
E ey
mEHRE  HERE BiE EEH
nE nE (k) DAERE &%
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
AT BT BT BT BT
(Note)
(Kst)
At 1 April 2015 R2015F4 A 1H (312,575) 255,744 2,113,335 - 2,056,504
Credit to profit or loss for the year PAFRET AR
— Origination and reversal of ~ — EEZERR
temporary differences S 3E 282813 (255,724) 223,198 - 250,287
At 31 March 2016 and R2016F3A31HK
1 April 2016 20164 H1H (29,762) 20 2,336,533 - 2,306,791
Arising from business combination E¥% & HEE
Charge/(credit) to profitor loss RER BB
for the year MR,/ (Gt ABR) - - - (338,951) (338,951)
— Origination and reversal of ~ — ERSZEEHHR
temporary differences KB [E (18,428) 4,807 254,157 50,843 291,379
At 31 March 2017 R2017£3A831H (48,190) 4,827 2590690 (288,108) 2,259,219
Note: Provisions represent the temporary differences of provision for Bt . BHEEAEESGAMEHRERNE TR

certain expenses (including provisions for long service payments,
unrealised annual leaves and bonuses) made in the consolidated
financial statements of the Group which would only be allowed for
tax deduction when these expenses were actually paid.

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2017 #Z 201743 431 HiF4/E

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES
(continued)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances

25. EERBEE EFE(E)

ARSI SR RO IR AE TR IR A o (R R

(after offset) for statement of financial position purposes: SEIE) ST
2017 2016
2017 & 2016 4
HK$ HK$
BT m
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIEAE (288,108) (29,762)
Deferred tax assets EEFIBEE 2,547,327 2,336,553
2,259,219 2,306,791
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 26. ES R HMEKIE
2017 2016
2017 & 2016 F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Trade receivables H 5 WA 47,009,460 42,267,950
Prepayments, deposits and BRHIE - Ze Kk
other receivables Hoh FEWS R IE 14,904,664 12,251,613
61,914,124 54,519,563
The Group does not grant credit terms to its customers ANEBEWEAEZPETFZEEI(2016

(2016: Nil).The Group seeks to maintain strict control over
its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by the senior management and directors.

e B AR ©

F ) AEBEABRIZEHIEARE
BRYGIA 2MEEBRESTEH
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26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(continued)

The aging analysis of trade receivables, based on the invoice
date, and net of allowance, is as follows:

26. B 5 R H A RYROE (8)

B 5 R R R R B R
BB ATIT

2017 2016
2017 2016 4F
HK$ HK$
BT BT

1 to 30 days 1230H

31 to 60 days 31260 H
61 to 90 days 61290H
Over 90 days B0 H

As of 31 March 2017, trade receivables of HK$47,009,460
(2016: HK$42,267,950) were past due but not impaired.
These relate to a number of independent customers for
whom there is no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of customers that have good settlement records
with the Group. Based on past experience, the directors are
of the opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary
in respect of these balances as there has not been a
significant change in credit quality and the balances are still
considered fully recoverable.

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
BRBEYEER (ZR)ERAH

10,193,862 9,646,212
28,261,606 26,908,043
3,924,994 1,603,052
4,628,998 4,110,643

47,009,460 42,267,950

MN2017E3A31H B 5 ENKZKE
47,009,460/ 7T (20164F : 42,267,950
Br) BmEBEWRRE -  HEHH
WEAHTREECHNBIRFE

E 8 BB RORL (B FE Wk IR T 82 % 4 B
AEBERINFCHENEFPER -
RIBBELSR BEERR/EELERL
EEANEE ABBERIDERRA
EERE - MU BAMZFERAE
BB o
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 #Z 201743 431 HiF4/E

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 26. ES R EHMEWIE(E)
(continued)
Details of the prepayments, deposits and other receivables FENHIE - e NEMEIRIERE
are as follows: mr
2017 2016
2017 & 2016 4F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Prepayments BN IR 1,077,240 1,655,275
Deposits e 3,631,991 2,195,584
Other receivables (note) H b e W sRIE (B aE) 10,195,433 8,400,754

14,904,664 12,251,613

Note: Other receivables mainly included amounts paid on behalf of Biet EbEW R BEEREREEIREE
incorporated owners for property management. STYEERRIE -

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS 27. EERBRTER

2017 2016

2017 & 2016 F

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Pledged bank deposits SHEMIRITEK 7,105,972 7,595,971

The Group’s pledged bank deposits represented deposits AEEZ B MPBRITFERIEGA M

pledged to banks to secure banking facilities granted to the WMEMFIOMEBEERF TRIT 2T

Group as set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial o EAREREREITRENK

statements. The pledged bank deposits are denominated in o BEEBBITFRUETEE - B

HK$ and are made for varying periods of between one day BH—BZ— 1% BFEAEEZ

and one year depending on the immediate cash requirement EIEIRSERKMTE B EBSH T HA

of the Group and earn interest at the respective short-term BFRMNEL - SRITEBR LD EIRE

time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits REFEEOBRITEERGEE  EER

are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history 428377 - 2017 3 A 31 BHRFEF

of default. The annual interest rate of 0.01% to 0.3% (2016: R 50.01%ZE0.3% (20164 : 0.01%

0.01% to 0.1%) as at 31 March 2017. 2£0.1%) °
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28. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

28. BERBREZEEY

2017 2016

2017 & 2016 4

HK$ HK$

BT BIT

Cash on hand FoEIRSE 304,006 188,005
Bank balances RITHERR 44,860,984 64,584,626

The cash and bank balances are denominated in HK$.

29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

45,164,990 64,772,631

e RRITERABTTEHE ©

20. BE5 RHEMENTRE

2017 2016

2017 & 2016 4F

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Trade payables B SN FIA 1,147,980 1,221,476
Building management deposits received B IIEFERIRS 4,297,586 4,062,887
Accruals and other payables FEZHIRE F N Eo b fE 1~ 3018 50,494,669 33,316,454
Provision for long service payment REIRG 2 #E 8,066,116 7,501,066

The ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice
date, is as follows:

64,006,351 46,101,883

B HREMNFRIRRER A RNRE DN
LN

2017 2016
20175 20164
HK$ HK$
BT BT

1 to 30 days 1£30H

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
BRBEYEER (ZR)ERAH
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29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 20. EGREMENTKIE (&)

Details of the accruals and other payables are as follows: FEtIE B AR EMEN BB W
T

2017 2016

2017 % 20164

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Accrued staff cost and staff benefit JEETIRE TR AN B T1EF 20,148,888 19,623,032

Accrued staff bonus and annual leave  JEEHIZE TIE4I RER 7,635,048 6,659,742

Accrued expenses JEET A 1,268,952 1,614,404

Amount due to a director B —REEFIB 5,500,000 -

Amount due to a related party e — R a5 508 5,500,000 -

Other payables H b~ 5B 10,441,781 5,419,276

50,494,669 33,316,454

Movement of provision for long services payment is stated REBRGSBEEEDETIDOT
as follows:

2017 2016
2017 F 2016 4
HK$ HK$
BT BT
At 1 April M4 A1H 7,501,066 5,198,013
Provision made during the year F B 2,195,177 3,029,773
Paid during the year FARRMK (1,630,127) (726,720)
At 31 March R3A31H 8,066,116 7,501,066
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30. BANK BORROWINGS — SECURED 30. RITIEE — BEHF
2017 2016
2017 % 20164
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Bank loans, secured IRITER - BEE 5,240,401 6,937,454
Bank overdrafts, secured RITES - HEA 4,129,863 1,645,434

9,370,264 8,582,888

The borrowings are repayable as follows: FEEESEENT -
2017 2016
2017 & 2016 4F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
On demand or within one year BREKRIR—FN 9,370,264 8,582,838
Less: Amount due for settlement B R 1218 B AR B A A
within 12 months (shown under FHEGAERDEE)
current liabilities) (9,370,264) (8,582,888)
Amount due for settlement after 1218 A & 2 8 2 S B 508
12 months - -
The average interest rates at 31 March were as follows: N3 A3 BMELFIRMOT
2017 2016
2017 & 20164
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Bank loans, secured IRITER - A 2.61% 2.51%
Bank overdrafts, secured IRITHEY - HIEF 6.25% 6.25%
As at 31 March 2017, borrowings of the Group denominated MN201743A31 0 @ "REFBEES
in HK$. TLHIE °

1 SOKong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
BRBEYEER (ZR)ERAH
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 #Z 201743 431 HiF4/E

30. BANK BORROWINGS — SECURED
(continued)

The Group’s banking facilities were secured by:

(a) Pledge of deposits placed for life insurance (note 22);

(b) Pledge of the Group’s fixed bank deposits (note 27);

(c) Pledge of unlimited guarantee by related companies
(note 41);

(d) Joint and several unlimited personal guarantees of
directors (note 41) and;

(e) Various Counter Indemnities for issuance of
performance bonds.

As at 31 March 2017, banking facilities granted to the
Group are approximately HK$58.5 million (2016:
approximately HK$40.7 million)

As at 31 March 2017, approximately HK$29.8 million (2016:
HK$17.5 million) of the banking facilities have been utilised
by the Group.

30. RITHE — FEF (FH)

AEBENRITHER FIISHEELR

S

(a)

(e)

KR ASREBEANRS (A
Z22)

HAR AR B E HERTT 173 (A
it27)

KREEQRNEREERA
iT41) :

B EH AR N @R ERAREAE
R(MEE41) R

MELBORBSFELZ AR

EIRE °

R2017F3 A31H  RTPAEERIE
1TREE #95,850& B 7L (2016 F 49
4,07087%87T) °

MR20174E3 A31H 42,9808 % 7T
(20164 : 1,750&8 B L) MIRITRE
CDEAEEHA -
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31. FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES

31. BARMEHRERE

Present value of

Minimum lease minimum lease
payments payments
REBENER REHANNTHRRAE
2017 2016 2017 2016
2017 F 2016 F 2017 20164
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Within one year —FR 226,611 306,936 219,346 289,043
In the second to fifth years, E_FEEREF
inclusive (BREEEME) 84,695 311,306 83,805 303,150
311,306 618242 303,151 592,193
Less: Future finance charge B RRBMEFRX (8,155)  (26,049) -
Present value of lease MEAERE
obligations 303,151 592,193

Less: Amount due for settlement
within 12 months (shown

R T EARBIE S
FEGIBRBEE)

under current liabilities)

Amount due for settlement
after 12 months

T AR RR

It is the Group’s policy to lease certain of its motor vehicles
under finance leases. The average lease term is 3 years. At
31 March 2017, the average effective borrowing rate was at
the rate per annum of 3.8% t0 4.27% (2016: 2.18% to 5%).
Interest rates are fixed at the contract dates and thus expose
the Group to fair value interest rate risk. All leases are on a
fixed repayment basis and no arrangements have been
entered into for contingent rental payments. At the end of
each lease term, the Group has the option to purchase the
motor vehicles at nominal prices.

All finance lease payables are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars.

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
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(219,346)  (289,043)

83,805 303,150

AEBBRANREMEEREETA
B FHYMEAIF - R2017F3 A
318 ' FHEREEFNXAETFI.8%
£4.27% (20164 : 2.18% £5%) °
FIERNEXHBEBET - ANEEH
EARERERRE - IAEHEOKEEE
EBREE  WESIABSIRETL
ZHE - REMBERR  AEEAE
EELZAEEERE -

EEENREREFIRS S TEHE
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 #Z 201743 431 HiF4/E

PROMISSORY NOTES PAYABLES

On 31 March 2017, the Company issued two promissory
notes of HK$7,000,000 each to settle part of the
consideration in the acquisition of the 100% equity interest
in MRIL and FTIL.

The amount is unsecured and interest free. The sum of
HK$14,000,000 is to be repaid on the date following 18
months after the date of issuance. The fair value of the
promissory notes were HK$ 12,157,882 on initial recognition
which was measured by computing the present value of
estimated future cash flows at the effective interest rate of
10%. Further details are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 8 February 2017 and 31 March
2017.

32. BNAEREE

M2017F3 A31H » RAREITMER
K /57,000,00078 TTHY A H R -
VA8 - W B MRIL J2 FTIL 2 &5 A # &Y
MO HRE -

FRBEREARREE - BHE
14,000,000/ 7L RO FRIAZA N 1T B
& 1818 AREE - NS R - &
AEENANER12,157,882/8 7T -
TR BEBFIR 10% T EbFIRKRE
MEMBREMFERL - E—PFHB
HRARRAMA/2017F2A8H K
20173 A31 BBV -

During the year, imputed interest of HK$ nil was charged to FR - HEEFEBEETETEAGESER
the consolidated profit or loss. Bk o
SHARE CAPITAL 33. kA&
Number of
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each shares HK$
SRAEEO B THEER RAEER BT
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each &A% EI{E0.01 B LA E B%
At 1 April 2015, 31 March 2016 #A2015F4H1H -~
and 31 March 2017 201643 A31H
K 201743 A31H 5,000,000,000 50,000,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRHE:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each &A% E{E0.01 /8 LAY T 3@ AX
At 1 April 2015 R2015F4 A 1H 400,000,000 4,000,000
Issue of shares on placement Bl S5 TAR D 80,000,000 800,000
Issue of shares on conversion I A AL B
of the convertible loans BT 15,151,515 151,515
At 31 March 2016 MR2016F3 A31H 495,151,515 4,951,515
Issue of shares on placement Ao & B 221 TAR 1D 99,000,000 990,000
At 31 March 2017 R2017F3 A31 H 594,151,515 5,941,515
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33. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

On 18 August 2016, the Company and a placing agent
entered into a placing agreement in respect of the
placement of 99,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
to independent investors at a price of HK$0.23 per share.
The placement was completed on 6 September 2016 and
the premium on the issue of shares, amounting to
approximately HK$21.0 million, net of share issue expenses
of approximately HK$0.8 million, was credited to the
Company’s share premium account.

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maximise the return to the shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk.
The Group manages the capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the payment of dividends, issue new
shares, buy-back shares, raise new debts, redeem existing
debts or sell assets to reduce debts.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-
adjusted capital ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt
divided by adjusted capital. Net debt is calculated as total
debts less cash and cash equivalents. Adjusted capital
comprises all components of equity (i.e. share capital, share
premium, retained profits and other reserves)

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
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33. A& (&)

MR20164F8 A18H » AR T EFIER
BAIVEE R UWIREIR0.23E T
/(B 1% () 38 32 #% & & Bid & 99,000,000
BERAEEOLBITHLE B - ILE
EIEC N 2016 F9 A6 BT » 1T
B mEH 2,100 8% T (B kD
BITHZ 808 B L) ERAKRAF
B (EBR o

AEEEAEENBERRREAEE
FEE LN N KB BBER R iE
AR R RS R A @ o

AEBRLHIRERRERNSHE - K
SEEEEENGERE  YRELER
UK 18 B A EE R B R e L T AR
B REFBIABEANER  ~5E8
AIRE g HEBBIRN « BITH D -
CIRER D - BEFE  BLRBES
HHEEENRDETR -

REE MBS RS ARG AR RECHE
BN o i RIRERF R AL E
BEAGHE - @R FRREEE AR
EREEEME - KRBEABRR
ey T A M RCER D (BIRAR ~ B fn
HE - REEN R EMREE) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P BmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2017 #Z 201743 431 HiF4/E

34. RESERVES

(@)

(b)

Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements
therein are presented in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income and
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Company

The amounts of the Company’s reserves and the
movements therein for the year ended 31 March 2017

34. %%

(@ ~£EH
AEERFBENELNEFNED)
EncERlEMTERRER M
SEESEEHRAZY -

(b) AR

ARBREE2017F3A31H
HFENHEEBERETRNES)

are as follows: IR
Equity
Share investment  Convertible
Share option  Contributed  revaluation notes Accumulated
premium reserve surplus reserve reserve losses Total
BRAREERE THRREE
RiEE BRERE  HARR e ®E  RiEE fit
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HK$
BT B AT BT BT AT B
At 1 April 2015 201554 A 10 24,087,947 745360 4,750,108 = - (6920,382) 22,663,033
Equity-settled share-based RREEE RIS
payments SOEGE] - 3,126,640 - - - - 3,126,640
Issue of convertible note BTAHRRERE - - - - 640,000 - 640,000
Issue of shares on conversion KA ARIREZEE
of convertible note BIRO 20,488,485 - - - (640,000 - 19,848,485
Issue of shares on placement  ERERE(TR D 30,406,385 - - - - - 30,406,385
Total comprehensive loss ERNPAFELE
for the year - - - (8,733,000) - (13,613,143) (22,346,143)
At 31 December 2015 and R2015E12R318 K
1 January 2016 2016F1F1H 74,982,817 3,872,000 4,750,108 (8,733,000) - (20,533,525) 54,338,400
Issue of shares on placement ~ ELEEETRH 21,017,315 - - - - - 21,017,315
Total comprehensive loss ERREEBRLE
for the year - - - (4,267,000 - (7,760,613) (12,027,613)
At 31 March 2017 2017453 A318 96,000,132 3,872,000 4,750,108 (13,000,000) - (28,294,138) 63,328,102
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34. RESERVES (continued)

(©)
(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Nature and purpose of reserves

Share premium account

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, the funds in the share premium account
of the Company are distributable to the
shareholders of the Company provided that
immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts
as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the aggregated
amounts of issued capital of KSG, KSU, K-King
and Q&V as at 31 March 2013, the date on which
the aggregated issued capital was reallocated to
merger reserve after the Group’s reorganisation
for the purpose of the listing of the Company’s
shares on the GEM of the Stock Exchange.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Company arose as
a result of the Group reorganisation implemented
in preparation for the listing of the Company’s
shares on GEM of the Stock Exchange and
represented the excess of the then consolidated
net assets of the subsidiaries acquired, over the
nominal value of the share capital of the Company
issued in exchange therefore.

Share option reserve

The share-based payment reserve represents the
fair value of the actual or estimated number of
unexercised share options granted to directors
and consultants of the Company recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted
for equity-settled share-based payments in note
3(q) to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 #Z 201743 431 HiF4/E

34. RESERVES (continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(v) Equity investment revaluation reserve

The equity investment revaluation reserve
comprises the cumulative net change in the fair
value of equity investment through other
comprehensive income held at the end of the
reporting period and is dealt with in accordance
with the accounting policy in note 3(i)(ii) to the
consolidated financial statements.

(vi) Convertible notes reserve

The convertible notes reserve represents the
equity component of the convertible notes at
initial recognition, representing the value of the
embedded option for the holder to convert the
note into equity of the Company.

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

On 19 September 2013, the Company has adopted a share
option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) under which
the board of directors is authorised to grant share options to
any employee, adviser, consultant, service provider, agent,
customer, partner or joint-venture partner of the Company
or any subsidiary (including any director of the Company or
any subsidiary) who is in full-time or part-time employment
with or otherwise engaged by the Company or any subsidiary
at the time when an option is granted to such employee,
adviser, consultant, service provider, agent, customer,
partner or joint-venture partner or any person who, in the
absolute discretion of the board, has contributed or may
contribute to the Group (the “Eligible Participants”) as
incentive or reward for their contribution to the Group.
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35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Subject to (ii) below, the maximum number of shares
of the Company (“Shares”) in respect of which options
may be granted at any time under the Share Option
Scheme together with options which may be granted
under any other share option schemes for the time
being of the Group shall not exceed such number of
Shares as equals 10% of the issued share capital of
the Company at the date of approval of the Share
Option Scheme. On 14 August 2015, the Company
successfully sought approval by its shareholders in
general meeting to refresh the 10% limit (the
“Refreshment”). Upon the Refreshment approved by
the shareholders of the Company at the annual general
meeting on 14 August 2015, the Company may grant
Options entitling holders thereof to subscribe for up to
a maximum number of 40,000,000 Shares. A Options
previously granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Group
(including those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed in
accordance with the Share Option Scheme or any
other share option schemes and exercised options) will
not be counted for the purpose of calculating the limit
as refreshed. No further share option was granted after
14 August 2015, Options entitling holders thereof to
subscribe for up to a maximum number of 40,000,000
Shares may be granted by the Company under the
Share Option Scheme, representing 6.7% of the issued
shares as at 31 March 2017;

The limit on the number of Shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the Share Option
Scheme and any other options granted and yet to be
exercised under any other share option schemes of the
Group must not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue
from time to time. No options may be granted under
the Share Option Scheme or any other share option
schemes of the Group if this will result in the limit
being exceeded; and
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35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

(iii)

Unless approved by the shareholders of the Company,
the total number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted to each grantee
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in
any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the
Shares in issue. Where any further grant of options to
an Eligible Participant would result in the Shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
granted and to be granted to such person (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such
further grant representing in aggregate over 1% of the
Shares in issue, such further grant must be separately
approved by the shareholders of the Company in
general meeting with such Eligible Participant and his
associates abstaining from voting. The Company must
send a circular to the shareholders of the Company
and the circular must disclose the identity of the
Eligible Participant, the number and terms of the
options to be granted (and options previously granted
to such Eligible Participant), and such information as
may be required under the GEM Listing Rules from
time to time. The number and terms (including the
subscription price) of options to be granted to such
Eligible Participant must be fixed before approval of
the shareholders of the Company and the date of
meeting of the Board for proposing such further grant
should be taken as the date of grant for the purpose of
calculating the subscription price. The exercise of any
option shall be subject to the shareholders of the
Company in general meeting approving any necessary
increase in the authorised share capital of the
Company. Subject thereto, the Directors shall make
available sufficient of the then authorised but unissued
share capital of the Company to allot the Shares on the
exercise of any option.
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35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

An option may be exercised at any time during the period to
be determined and identified by the Board to each grantee
at the time of making an offer for the grant of an option, but
in any event no later than 10 years from the date of grant
but subject to the early termination of the Share Option
Scheme.

Though there is no specified minimum period under the
Share Option Scheme for which an option must be held or
the performance target which must be achieved before an
option can be exercised under the terms and conditions of
the Share Option Scheme, the Directors may make such
grant of options, subject to such terms and conditions in
relation to the minimum period of such options to be held
and/or the performance targets to be achieved as the
Directors may determine in their absolute discretion.

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the
Directors may, in their absolute discretion, make offer to the
Eligible Participants. An offer shall be made to an Eligible
Participant in writing in such form as the Directors may from
time to time determine. An offer shall be deemed to have
been accepted by an Eligible Participant concerned in
respect of all Shares which are offered to such Eligible
Participant when the duplicate letter comprising acceptance
of the offer duly signed by the Eligible Participant, together
with a non-refundable remittance in favour of the Company
of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof is
received by the Company within such time as may be
specified in the offer.

The subscription price for Shares under the Share Option
Scheme shall be determined at the discretion of the
Directors but in any event will not be less than the highest of
(a) the closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange as
shown in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange
on the offer date of the particular option, which must be a
business day; (b) the average of the closing price of the
Shares as shown in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding
the offer date of the particular option; and (c) the nominal
value of a Share on the offer date of the particular option.
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35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 35. AR AR FRIE ()

FERR ST S B AT EI 5 40 B HA (AP
20139 R 19R) BEZETEIFTHTE
fRIEBER - BNEEARMEET SIER 40 H HAE
M+ E 2 H(BI2023F9H181H )
ARBEEBBERALARILE
R o BEIRRERTEIM E ZERNARQF]
HE A2013F9A30 WA ER

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective
commencing from the adoption date of the Share Option
Scheme (i.e. 19 September 2013) until the termination date
as provided therein which being the close of business of the
Company on the date which falls ten years from the date of
the adoption of the Share Option Scheme (i.e. 18 September
2023). The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are

summarised in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”

in Appendix IV to the Prospectus of the Company dated 30

September 2013.

Details of the specific categories of options are as follows:

BRENSED BTN

Fia%em [ BRI EH 2| — £ OBt -

Exercise
Categories Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period price
Ehl ® A EEH TEH TEE
HK$
BT
2015(A) 6 February 2015 N/A 6 February 2015 to 1.09
5 February 2018
2015F 2 A6H T iE M 2015F2A6RH=E
20182 A5H
2015(B) 6 February 2015 6 February 2015 to 30 June 2015 to 1.09
29 June 2015 5 February 2018
20152 A6H 2015%F2A6HZ 2015F6H30H=
2015%F 6 A29H 2018%F 2 A5H
2015(C) 6 February 2015 N/A 6 February 2015 to 1.09
5 February 2018
2015F 2 A6H ANiE A 2015%F2H6RH=E
2018%F 2 A5H
2015(D) 6 February 2015 6 February 2015 to 30 June 2015 to 1.09
29 June 2015 5 February 2018
2015F 2 A6 H 2015%F2H6H%E 20156 H30H=

20156 H29H

201852 A5H
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35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Details of the share options outstanding during the year are
as follows:

35. BARAD XA FRTE (&)
FARRITEBRENFSOT

2017 2016
2017 5 2016 F
Number of Weighted Number of Weighted
share options average share options average
exercise price exercise price
hnREF1 g
BREHE TEE  BRERE 17118
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Outstanding at the RE) R F R
beginning and the mARITER
end of the year 20,000,000 1.09 20,000,000 1.09

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for
share options exercised during the year was HK$1.09. The
options outstanding at the end of the year have a weighted
average remaining contractual life of 1 year (2016: 2 years)
and the exercise price of all options is HK$1.09 (2016:
HK$1.09). The options were granted on 6 February 2015.

The fair value of the share option granted during the year
ended 31 March 2015 was calculated using the Binomial
pricing model. The inputs into the model are as follows:

Weighted average share price HK$0.99
Weighted average exercise price HK$1.09
Expected volatility 35.98%
Expected life 3 years
Risk free rate 0.72%
Expected dividend yield 4.59%

Expected volatility was determined by reference to the
volatilities of companies operating in the same industry as
the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2017 #Z 201743 431 HiF4/E

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

The expected life used in the model is the duration of the
option life.

Risk-free rate adopted in the model was based on the yield
of HK$ Hong Kong Sovereign Curve.

The historical dividend yield of the Company’s stock is used
to estimate the future dividend yield of the stock during the
option validity period.

BUSINESS COMBINATION

On 30 June 2016, the Group acquired 100% of the issued
share capital of Yorkshire Property Management Company
Limited (“YSL”) for a cash consideration of HK$2,500,000.
YSL was engaged in provision of property management
services during the year. The acquisition is for the purpose
of expanding the Group’s existing property management
business.
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36. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of YSL

36. XBE 6 (F)
P U B YSLE AT BBl B EE ) B B UL

acquired as at their date of acquisition is as follows: EHHNASENT
HK$
Net assets acquired: T EEFE BT
Intangible asset BmEEE 2,054,247
Trade receivables 2 5 eV IR 993,001
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables — FEfTFIE - 124 & E fh el 7018 10,752
Bank and cash balances RITRIB &% 149
Trade and other payables H 5 M HEMENFIE (950,173)
Current tax liabilities BHATHIE B & (2,815)
Provision of unrealised annual leave payment FMFHELERARBE S EE
and long service payment (50,914)
Deferred tax liabilities EXERIEAEE (338,951)
1,715,296
Goodwill S 784,704
2,500,000
Satisfied by: 53 ER
Cash consideration WERE 2,500,000
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: EU B EERIRE ML FE
Cash consideration paid EfRRERE 2,500,000
Cash and cash equivalents acquired Frii IR & MIREEEY (149)
2,499,851
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 #Z 201743 431 HiF4/E

BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

The fair value of the trade and other receivables of YSL
acquired is HK$1,003,753. The gross amount due under
the contracts of YSL is HK$1,003,753. None of these
receivables have been impaired and it is expected that the
full contractual amounts can be collected.

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of YSL is attributable
to the anticipated profitability of the distribution of the
Group’s products in the new markets and the anticipated
future operating synergies from the combination.

YSL contributed approximately HK$8,163,160 and
HK$994,102 to the Group’s revenue and profit for the year
respectively for the period between the date of acquisition
and the end of the reporting period.

If the acquisition had been completed on 1 April 2016, total
Group revenue for the year would have been
HK$398,303,750, and profit of the Group for the year would
have been HK$9,296,783. The proforma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication
of the revenue and results of operations of the Group that
actually would have been achieved had the acquisition been
completed on 1 April 2016, nor is intended to be a
projection of future results.

Acquisition related costs recognised as expenses include
legal and professional fee of HK$105,000.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

During the year, the Group acquired leasehold land and
buildings of HK$9,512,507 and investment property of
HK$28,817,301 from a director and a related party, at a
cash consideration of HK$26,000,000 and promissory notes
of sum of HK$12,157,882, among which cash consideration
of HK$11,000,000 was include in other payables as
amounts due to a director and a related party.

36.
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38. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(@)

(b)

Performance bond and incorporated owners’ fund

Performance bond has been issued by several banks
as the Group maintains certain incorporated owners’
funds in the form of client accounts which were held
on trust for and on behalf of the incorporated owners.
These client accounts are not recognised as assets
and associated liabilities in the financial statements of
the Group. At the end of reporting period, the Directors
do not consider it probable that a claim on the
performance bonds will be made against the Group.

As at 31 March 2017, the amount of outstanding
performance bond was approximately HK$20.4 million
(2016: HK$17.5 million).

As at 31 March 2017, the aggregate amount of the
bank balances in the client accounts not dealt with in
the consolidated financial statements of the Group is
approximately HK$40.8 million (2016: HK$32.4
million).

Legal cases

In carrying out the ordinary course of business, the
Group is subject to the risk of being named as
defendant in legal actions, claims and disputes in
connection with its business activities. The nature of
the legal proceedings initiated against the Group
generally include (i) claims for employees’
compensation by the Group’s employees; (ii) claims for
personal injury caused by the negligence of the Group
and owners’ corporations of the properties by passers-
by, residents or other users of the respective
properties; (iii) claims for property damage or
economic loss caused by the negligence of the Group
and owners’ corporations of the properties by residents
or other users of the respective properties; and (iv)
claims for property damage caused by the negligence
of individual flat owners by other residents or users of
the respective properties. The Group maintains
insurance cover and, in the opinion of the directors of
the Company, based on current evidence, any such
existing claims have no material financial impact to the
Group as at 31 March 2017.
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39.

40.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 #Z 201743 431 HiF4/E

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 39. EXAEIE

The Group’s capital commitments at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

AEENRERRNEARAENT

2017 2016
2017 & 2016 4F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Investment in an associate R—KEZE QA RINRE
Contracted but not provided for inthe B ET41{E AR B %
financial statements in respect of AR T E S EH B E
unpaid balance of capital contributions 3,150,000 -
LEASE COMMITMENTS 40. A EE
Commitments under operating leases REANE T AL

As lessee

At 31 March 2017 the total future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases are payable as
follows:

ERABEA

720173 A31H - TRIHHK L
HITE T B R R XA A0 1 R 4B R
LUl

2017 2016
20175 20164
HK$ HK$
T BT

Within one year —F R

2,998,800 2,822,300

In the second to fifth years, inclusive FoFEFRFERLFE(BIEERME) 2,202,200 2,863,200

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the
Group for certain of its offices, a carpark space and a motor
vehicle. Leases are negotiated for an average term of 2 years
and rentals are fixed over the lease terms and do not include
contingent rentals.

5,201,000 5,685,500

REMONTEASERESTHRA
= —EAECR-—@WIERMNHE
T HEBRORFHARF  MEE
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40. LEASE COMMITMENTS (continued)
Commitments under operating leases (continued)
As lessor

The Group leases out its investment property. At the end of
reporting period, the future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable leases are receivables as follows:

40. MAEIE ()
EEBHE TR ()
fEBHHA

AEBLHEEREME - RBEH
R DRAEHELE T 8 EUCR K &
KA T

2017 2016

2017 & 2016 4

HK$ HK$

BT 75T

Within one year —FR 812,600 -
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_FEERAF(BREEMF) 388,700 -
1,201,300 -

Operating lease income represent rentals receivables by the
Group for its investment property. Leases are negotiated for
terms of 2 years and rentals are fixed over the lease terms
and do not include contingent rentals.

41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to those related party transactions and balances
disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements,
the Group had the following transactions with its related
parties during the year:

RERHBATE RN EERREYRE
WnwlHe - BEBROBSME - MH
EHAESREE Y TBREHIAE

RBLRX5

BRéRa MR E Ml i E e
IR MR AERERFRNEHR
BT BATRS

M.

2017 2016
2017 §F 2016 4F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Rental paid to related companies EffEEARES

— MRIL — MRIL 384,000 336,000

— Kong Shum Union (China) Limited ~ — & F#t4 (T E) GRAF
(“KSU China”) ([BxREERE]) 568,000 368,000
Compensation paid to directors BENEEME 5,534,991 9,393,569

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited

BRBEYEEE (ZR)ERQF
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Mr. Ho Ying Choi and Mr. Ho Ying Cheung, directors of the
Company (Mr. Ho Ying Cheung resigned as an executive
director of the Company on 6 February 2015 and remain as
a director of KSU, have control over the related companies,
KSU China, MRIL and FTIL.

At 31 March 2017 and 2016, Mr. Ho Ying Choi and Mr. Ho
Ying Cheung had provided joint and several unlimited
personal guarantees in favour of banking facilities granted to
certain subsidiaries within the Group (note 30).

At 31 March 2016, MRIL and FTIL had provided unlimited
guarantees and pledged of their properties to secure
banking facilities granted to certain subsidiaries within the
Group (note 30). At 31 March 2017, the properties have
been released from charge.

On 8 February 2017, KSU, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company and Mr. Ho Ying Choi, an executive Director of the
Company and Mr. Ho Ying Cheung, a director of KSU and
brother of Mr. Ho Ying Choi entered into sale and purchase
agreement to acquire assets and liabilities by way of
acquisition of the entire equity interest in MRIL and FTIL at
a cash consideration of HK$26,000,000 and promissory
notes of sum of HK$12,157,882 (face value:
HK$14,000,000). MRIL and FTIL owned properties located
in Hong Kong and were engaged properties investment
business during the year. The acquisition is for the purpose
of expanding the Group’s business diversity and was
completed on 31 March 2017.

1. BBAXR S (&)

NN FIE B RER o R B ST
(A FERE S AN 20154 2 A 6 HEHEAR
NEHITES  HNBETBERBEEE
E)VHBEEQRBRBEA TR - MRIL
N FTIL#E B 1564 -

P 2017F K& 2016%F3 A31H © {1 &
e RAEELERAEBETS
FHBRARERBITEERELR X
& 71) 422 PR RE & A PR (B 5E30) ©

MN2016F3 A31H * MRILK&FTILA
BERTFAEEE TS THE AR
RITEEMELERBEERTIKFE
WIEE (Mi5£30) 20173 A31H -
ZEMENBIRC ERER -

MR2017%42A8H  AQARIEENE
NEE RS B ER A (KRR
TER)MAEELE(BRBMAES
S EB AR AT EE Ha
LAZE £ A 1 26,000,000 7% 7T N (B 1E A
12,157,882 /% 7T (& : 14,000,000,%8
T0) By E R I EE MRIL R FTIL 230
BENFAKEBEENEE - MRILX
FTILREBBHBEYE REAREY
EREEK 2BWEEEZ TH
BASEEHERS  WER2017F3 A31
SR o
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42. EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE
REPORTING PERIOD

Acquisition of a financial service company

As detailed in note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements, On 13 February 2017, the Group entered into a
sale and purchase agreement with an independent third
party to purchase the 30% of the issue share capital of
Dakin at a total consideration of HK$31,500,000 to be
satisfied by cash (the “Acquisition”). On 28 April 2017, the
Acquisition has been completed. Following the completion,
the Company is holding 30% of the equity interest in Dakin,
and Dakin has become an associate of the Company and
the investment of the Group will be classified as investment
in an associate. Details of above are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 20 January 2017, 13
February 2017 and 28 April 2017.

Placing of new shares

On 11 May 2017, the Company entered into placing
agreement with a placing agent, pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to place through the
placing agent up to 118,800,000 placing shares at the
placing price of HK$0.24 per placing share. The net
proceeds from the placing is expected to be approximately
HK$27,656,640. The placing was completed on 26 May
2017. Details of above are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 11 May 2017 and 26 May 2017.

Granting of Money Lender’s Licence

On 15 June 2017, a money lender’s licence has been
granted by the licensing court to a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company. The Group has decided to and will
commence its money lending business under the Money
Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the laws of Hong Kong)
as one of its principal business activities from 15 June 2017.
Details of which are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 15 June 2017.

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
BRBEYEER (ZR)ERAH

42. REHREMH

Wi —-BERRBEAAE

AR A SRR M FE 23 FrEFal - R
2017F 2R 138 AEEEBTF=
FEIM B & W% LAUKEE Dakin B 3
1TIRA30% A (E A31,500,000/%8
T BAReEM(TWEEE]D - B
2017F 4 A 28H  WHEEIED K °
TEAK & AN 2 B ¥5 A Dakin #)30% %
#E + T Dakin i &K A &) Ay B & A &)

BAREENREZSEAN — KBS
NAIRIRE o LA EEENFBH N A
@l HE A20174F1820H « 2017
F2 8138 M2017%4 A28 HH A »

Be & 3 1% 7

MN2017E5A11 8 AR R EEER
BIVEREWwE B ARRBIK
HREZEEBREARBRETRAE SN
024 THEREEBRKE &%
118,800,000 % fid £ A% 15 - 8 BR g &
FIFFTISRIBFREH 527,656,640 75
JC o BREEIBC R 2017F5 A 26 HE
B o LA EEIEMFBENARQ R A
A&2017F5A11H K&201745H26
HE A o

ERREARR

R2017FE6 A158 » ARAI2EHE
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43. RN T BARRER

THE COMPANY
2017 2016
2017 % 20164
HK$ HK$
BT BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - B M E 32,264 -
Investments in subsidiaries HEKB A A 4,750,116 4,750,108
Loan to a subsidiary BERT—HEHEBRF 15,000,000 15,000,000
Deposits for acquisition of an associate Ui — B N R IR S 28,350,000 -
Equity investment at fair value through AR EFAEMEE
other comprehensive income WS B IR AR E - 4,267,000
48,132,380 24,017,108
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepayments, deposits and other ENRIE e K
receivables H 4th e W8 456,804 1,029,996
Amounts due from subsidiaries e NG 12,864,201 12,805,321
Cash and cash equivalents RWENIRESEEBY 12,988,230 26,881,771
26,309,235 40,717,088
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Accruals and other payables FERTIRE A R H M IR 1,073,012 1,281,561
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERPR B A T ZE 4,098,986 4,162,720
5,171,998 5,444 281
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEERE 21,137,237 35,272,807
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES & ERAEAE 69,269,617 59,289,915
NET ASSETS EERE 69,269,617 59,289,915
EQUITY s
Share capital A 7R 5,941,515 4.951,515
Reserves HE 63,328,102 54,338,400
TOTAL EQUITY XA 69,269,617 59,289,915

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 23 June

2017.

It

44. #tETI B HRE

Bz 2N 201746 523
HESESH A IRET)E -
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LEFEHBHBE
Year ended/As at 31 March
BZ3A831ALEE R3A3NA
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
2017 & 2016 %F 20154 20145 20134
HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FAT FET FET FET

OPERATING RESULT HEE 4
Revenue Wz 395,514 374,024 339,722 324,981 284,063
Cost of services BRI A AN (312,206) (295,756)  (269,280)  (258,781)  (231,764)
Gross profit EF 83,308 78,268 70,442 66,200 52,299
Other revenue HAb Wz 338 1,494 349 279 -
Administrative expenses THRY (51,958) (53,823) (44,122) (37,980) (30,422)
Other operating expenses Hit &R (17,984)  (18991)  (18717) (19,775 (13,084
Finance costs BE A (196) (992) (658) (1,105) (1,559)
Profit before taxation B BB R 13,508 5,956 7,204 7619 7,234
Income tax expense FTEHiFA % (3,320) (3,141) (2,320) (2,591) (1,664)
Net profit for the year FRRFFEE 10,188 2,815 4974 5,028 5,570
Other comprehensive loss Hitt2HEEE
Loss on equity investment at BRAAEFARMZE

fair value through other R AR EEE

comprehensive income (4,267) (8,733) - - -
Other comprehensive loss FREMEZHERE

for the year, net of tax (HK%FiE) (4,267) (8,733) - - -
Profit and total comprehensive Y\ WNGIE 2PN 3

income/(loss) for the year FRBIRZAE

attributable to owners Wi,/ (FE) 88

of the Company 5,921 (5,918) 4974 5,028 5,570
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREME
Total assets BEBE 203395 144871 100563 115994 105023
Total liabilities BIERE (87,125)  (56,529)  (61,276)  (62,427)  (84,572)
Net assets EEZE 116,270 88,342 39,287 53,567 20,451
Equity attributable to owners of EAREEA

the Company LR 116,270 88,342 39,287 53,567 20,451

Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited

BRBEYEEE (ZR)ERQF
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Unit 906, 9/F, Wings Building,
110-116 Queen’s Road Central, Central, Hong Kong

FBHIREFAKEHN0-N6EKEFEKEIIEIE

Tel B : (852) 3970 4060
Fax & : (852) 3970 4065
Email & & : prop@kongshum.com.hk

www.kongshum.com.hk
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